
1 Tuesday , 27 May 2025 

2 ( 10 . 00 am) 

3 LADY SMITH : Good morning, and welcome back to our 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

evidential hearings in relation to this phase of our 

work , looking into the provision of residential care of 

children with healthcare , additional supports and 

disability needs . 

Now, we turn today to education inspection in 

Scotl and, and I t hink we have a single witness, is that 

right , Ms Innes , w~o is ready to give evidence? 

11 MS INNES : Yes , that ' s right , my Lady . Janie McManus is 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

His Majesty ' s I nterim Chief Inspector of Educat ion in 

Scotland. She has previously given evidence to the 

Inquiry, first of all in relation to the case study in 

relation to boarding schools on Day 211 , that was 

17 March 2021 ; and then , more recently, in the Secure 

Care case study on Day 375, that was 28 September 2023 . 

18 LADY SMITH : Thank you . 

19 Janie McManus (sworn) 

20 LADY SMITH : Welcome back again . Thank you for coming to 

21 

22 

23 

help us with your evidence once more . 

When you were last here , you were content that I use 

your first name ; is that all right still ? 

24 A . Yes . 

25 LADY SMITH : Thank you for that , Janie . 
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I know that you now are here in a role you took up 

j ust a month or so after you last gave evidence , as the 

Interim Chief Inspector of Education in Scotland, which , 

of course , ma kes your evidence even more valuable than 

it was before , so I ' m grateful to you for that . 

You know how we work , you know what ' s in the red 

folder , and thank you for a l l the material you and your 

organisation has provided to us for the purposes of this 

section of our work . 

Please remember that if you ' ve got any questions at 

a n y t ime , you must ask . If you want a break at any 

time , you must ask . If it works for you , I promise it 

will work for me. All right? 

14 A. Thank you . 

15 LADY SMITH : If you ' re ready, I ' ll hand over to Ms I n nes and 

16 

17 

she ' ll take i t from there . Thank you . 

Questions from Ms Innes 

18 MS INNES : Thank you , my Lady . 

19 Good morning, Janie . 

20 A. Morning . 

21 Q . As Lady Smith has just mentioned, you 're currentl y t he 

22 

23 

2 4 

25 

Interim Chief Inspector of Education in Scotland, and we 

underst and from your CV that you took that role up in 

November 2023 , and that , as we understand i t , is part of 

the transition to a new independent i nspectorate? 

2 



1 A . Yes , that ' s correct . 

2 Q. Now, Education Scotland have provided a report for this 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

phase of the Inquiry, but before I turn to it , if we can 

look briefly at the separate methodology document 

provided, which is at SGV-001033535 . 

First of all , at page 2 of that document , you set 

out, at paragraph 3 , t he points covered in the 

Section 21 notice sent to you in respect of this phase 

of the Inquiry , and that is what you've addressed in 

your report and summaries? 

11 A . Yes . 

12 Q . If we go on over t te page , please , to page 3 , at 

13 

14 

15 

paragraph 5 you note that various searches were 

commissioned in relation to the 20 named establishments; 

is that right? 

16 A. Yes . 

17 Q. If we look down to paragraph 9 , you say : 

1 8 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

' Where no records relevant [to the notice] were 

found for an establishment , a short establishment 

overview has been prepared .. . providing any relevant 

material t hat Education Scotland is aware of .' 

If there are no records of inspections -- so , for 

example , for some of the institutions we ' re looking at, 

like Melville House , Linwood Hall , for example -- does 

that mean that no inspections took place? 

3 



1 A . No , not necessarily . I t means that we didn ' t have 

2 

3 

4 

5 

records to show whether inspections took place or not , 

and i t was more that the records we were able to access , 

the case studies were compiled from that , rather than no 

inspections took place . 

6 Q . Thank you . 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

Now, you goo~ to set out in detail the approach 

that you took in terms of the preparation of the report , 

and I think t hat ' s broadly simil ar to t he approach taken 

by Education Scotland in relation to previous phases of 

the Inquiry, for example in relation to secure care? 

12 A. Yes , it is . 

13 Q. Now, if we can move on to your ma in report , please , 

14 

15 

16 

17 
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19 

20 

21 

which is at SGV-001033534 , and if we move to page 3 of 

this , please . 

As before , at paragraph 1. 2 , you refer to both 

Education Scotland and its predecessors and 

HM Inspectors , and you set out that HM I nspectors are 

currently part of Education Scotland; however , as we 

know, the inspection function is in the process of being 

made independent? 

22 A . Yes , that ' s correct . 

23 Q. Okay , and we ' ll come back to that later on in your 

24 

25 

report . 

At paragraph 1 . 3 , you note , as you ' ve set out in 
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previous reports , that there are three types of school : 

public schools , grant-aided schools and independent 

schools . 

You explain that a publ ic school woul d be under the 

ma nagement of a n education authority, and some of the 

schools covered by this case study would fall into t hat 

category, I think? 

8 A . Yes . 

9 Q . So , for examp l e , t t e ones I ' ve just mentioned , 

10 

11 

Melville House and Linwood Hall , were under the 

management of Fife? 

12 A . Yes . 

13 Q. Then there are some grant-aided schools , and you say 

14 

15 

that these are schools in respect of whi ch Scotti sh 

Mi nisters give gra~ts to the schools ' managers . 

16 A . Yes . 

17 Q. Again , there are some grant- aided schools within the 

18 scope of t h is case study. 

19 A . Yes . 

20 Q. I thi n k perhaps Harmeny is a grant- aided school ; is that 

21 right? 

22 A . Yes . 

23 Q. Then there are independent schools , whi ch fall into 

24 

25 

neither of the previous two categories , and they ' re 

ma naged by the proprietor of t h e school? 

5 



1 A. Yes . 

2 Q. So , again , in this case study, for example , Starley Hall 

3 i s an independent school ; is that right? 

4 A . Yes . 

5 Q. If we go down to paragraph 1 . 5 , you note that five of 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

the establishments on the list that we ' re looking at in 

this case study are open today, and you say that these 

establishments are classed as special schools , with 

residential provision services . 

So what is a ' special school'? 

11 A. So a spec i al school i s defined as a school , whether it' s 

12 

13 

14 

a class or a unit , that is special l y suited to provide 

education for children or young people who have 

parti cular special needs , needs for support . 

15 Q. You give reference there to section 29(1) of the 

16 

17 

1 8 

Education (Additi o~al Support for Learning) (Scotland) 

Act 2004 as setting out that definition , or the current 

definition ; is that right? 

19 A . Yes . 

20 Q. If we go on to the top of the next page , page 4 , you 

21 

22 

note t hat special schools could fall into any of the 

three categories : public , grant-aided or i ndependent . 

23 A. Yes . 

24 Q. You a l so say any such provision, where it provides 

25 residential accommodation , must be registered as 

6 
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a school care accommodation service , and that ' s with the 

Care Inspectorate? 

3 A. Yes . 

4 Q . But that school would also be subject to inspection by 

5 HM Inspectors? 

6 A. Yes . The school education element is s ubject to 

7 inspection by HM I ~spectors . 

8 Q . Okay . 

9 

10 

11 

You a l so note that you l iaise with the Registrar of 

Independent Schools in relation to those schools falling 

withi n the category of independent schools . 

12 A. Yes . 

13 Q. At paragraph 1 . 6 , you note that the special schools 

14 

15 

16 

which are sti ll open are e i ther independent schools or 

grant- aided schools ; none of them fall within t h e 

definition of public schools? 

17 A. That ' s correct . 

18 Q. So I think that those which are stil l open would be 

19 

20 

Harmeny, Seamab , Starley Hall , the Royal Blind School 

and Donaldson ' s . 

21 A. Yes . 

22 Q. Although Donaldson ' s no longer provides residential 

23 accommodation . 

24 A. Yes . 

25 Q. Then you go on to list all of the institutions that you 
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were asked to look at in the context of this case study 

at paragraph 1 . 7 . 

Now, if we move on to page 5 and part 2 of the 

report , you note , at paragraph 2 . 1 , that the records 

show that there is evidence that children who were 

accommodated in at least some of the establishments 

under investigatio~ by the Inquiry during the relevant 

period were abused , and you go on to note that the 

records may not be full or comprehensive , as you ' ve just 

said . So at paragraph 2 . 3 , you note that Education 

Scotland accepts t~at it ' s unlikely that all abuse will 

have been reported or , indeed , recorded . 

Now, I understand that you have an additional 

statement to read in connection with the acknowledgement 

of abuse by Education Scotland, so perhaps if I give you 

an opportunity to read that now . 

17 A . Thank you . 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

Good morning . I ' m here today on behalf of 

Education Scotland to assist the Inquiry with its 

i nvestigations into the abuse of children and young 

peopl e accommodated in residential care establishments 

for those with long-term healthcare needs , additional 

support needs and disabilities . 

I n preparation for giving evidence to the Inquiry , 

Education Scotland carried out a review and evaluation 

8 
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of records held in relation to establishments included 

in this phase . 

In the written response to the Inquiry, 

Education Scotland acknowledge that children and young 

people suffered ab~se and other unacceptable practices 

whilst accommodated in one or more of these 

establishments , and I want to reiterate that 

acknowledgement in person . 

I also want to acknowledge that the records we 

reviewed are unlikely to provide a comprehensive account 

of the abuse that took place , and this may be due to 

records not being retained or abuse not being recorded 

at the time . And I therefore want to acknowledge that 

the absence of records should not be interpreted as 

evidence t hat abuse did not take place . 

I t ' s unacceptable that any child was abused or 

subjected to abusive practices , conditions and regimes . 

Children attending educational establishments s hould 

have done so with the expectation that they would be 

safe and free from harm , and for children who were 

abused , this was not t he case . 

On behalf of Education Scotland, the agency 

currently responsible for the inspection of education, 

I would like to apologise sincerely for failings in 

inspection regimes over the years which have contributed 

9 
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to environments that enabled the abuse of c h ildren to 

take place . 

I ' d l i ke to apologise to each of those children and 

their fami l ies for the harm and distress caused at t h e 

time of the abuse and the effect that this has had on 

their lives . 

I n my capacity as His Majesty ' s Interim Chief 

Inspector of Education , I want to ensure that the 

i nspection of educati on is trusted by c h ildren and t hat 

it helps in protecting them and keeping them safe from 

harm . 

While inspection has c h anged over t h e years , 

including an increased focus on child protection and 

safeguard i ng , I ' m commit ted to ensuring that Educati o n 

Scotland does all it can to promote the safety and 

wellbeing of c h i l dren when they are in education, and 

that all possible measures are taken to ensure that 

education is delivered with in a safe environment . 

I want to reiterate my previous commitment to 

listening . I ' ll e~gage fully wi th the evidence 

presented during t t ese hearings and the questions ra i sed 

so that I can reflect carefully on any f urther 

i mprovement s needed to strengthen i nspection practice . 

Thank you . 

25 LADY SMITH : Jan ie , than k you for that thoughtfu l and full 

10 
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apology . I t ' s muct appreciated that you took the 

trouble to do that . 

3 MS INNES : Thank you , Janie . 

4 

5 
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Now, if we can move on in the report , p l ease , to 

page 9 . At sectio~ 6 , you start looking at the 

legislative framework and , again , this i s evidence that 

you have given to the Inquiry before , but just to touch 

on a couple of matters . 

You refer to tte powers to inspect , and then if we 

go on over the page , at paragraph 6 . 3 , we see reference 

to the Care Inspectorate that you just mentioned in your 

evidence , and you tighlight , in paragraph 6 . 3 , t hat 

HM Inspectors do not ordinarily inspect the residential 

accommodation provided by such services , although they 

have power , in terms of the 1980 Act , to carry out 

inspections for the purposes set out in that Act . Then 

you go on to refer to the way in which you work with the 

Care Inspectorate . 

At paragraph 6 . 4 , you say that the approaches have 

changed over the years , and you say that there were care 

and welfare inspections for public school s and 

independent school residential accommodation in Scotland 

between 1996 and 2C02 . 

Did Education Scotland have any invol vement in t hese 

inspections or were these carried out by others? 

11 



1 A. Well , they were carried out with HMie at the time 

2 well , coming into the 2000s in time . So , yes , we did . 

3 Q . Okay . 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

Then you say ttat the care and welfare inspections 

stopped in 2002 but then, from 2003 , as a result of the 

Regulation of Care (Scotland) Act 2001 , there were 

integrated inspections , and those were HM Inspectors and 

Care Commission inspections? 

9 A. Yes . 

10 Q. Were these carried out together , the inspectors forming 

11 a team and going ir.to an establishment together? 

12 A . Yes , t hey would go into an establishment together , and 

13 

14 

15 

the care inspectors , Care Commission , would look at the 

accommodation , and HM Inspectors would look at the 

education element . 

16 Q. Then if we move forward in time , obvious l y the Care 

17 

1 8 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

Inspectorate then came into being in 2011 and, at 

paragraph 6 . 6 , you note that HM Inspectors have a duty 

of co-operation with other scrutiny bodies , including 

the Care Inspectorate . 

You go on to note that , in terms of section 1 15 of 

the 2010 Act , Scottish Ministers can require Education 

Scotland and the Care Inspectorate to carry out a joint 

inspection . 

So is that essentially the same as the integrated 

12 



1 inspection? 

2 A . It ' s a similar philosophy, whereby the Care Inspectorate 

3 

4 

would look at the accommodation and HM Inspectors would 

look at the education at t he same time . 

5 Q . Okay . 

6 

7 

8 

9 

I said we would come back to reforms later on , which 

we will do , but in terms of the prospective reforms to 

the Inspectorate , is that going to continue , the joint 

working with the Care I nspectorate? 

10 A . Yes , we currently -- yeah . Yes . In two elements it 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

would work , and currently the bill for legislation is 

going through stage -- it ' s about to go on to stage 3 , 

and that will set out ministerial whether -- the 

ministerial respon~ibilities . But under the Public 

Sector Re form Act , we would be looking to carry out 

joint work with the Care Inspectorate . 

17 LADY SMITH : Does your joint work always result in a joint 

18 report , rather tha~ separate reports , or not? 

19 A . Yes . 

20 LADY SMITH : That mus t be more helpful to those who need to 

21 know . 

22 A . Yeah . 

23 LADY SMITH : Yes . 

24 MS INNES : If we go on over the page , to page 11 , you ta lk 

25 at paragraph 6 . 7 about your liaison with the Registrar 

13 
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3 
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of Independent Schools , and there are certain contexts 

in which you would liaise with the Registrar , one being 

the registration of a proposed school . 

What would the involvement of inspectors be in 

relation to registration? 

6 A . So in the registration of a proposed school , the 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

proprietor would send inspectors all documentation . The 

inspectors would visit the school to carry out a site 

visit of t he school . We would look at aspects such as 

staff being employed there and if they are registered 

with the GTCS . So we would carry that out as 

a pre - registration visit , provide t he Registrar with 

a report , and they would then determine whether 

registration should go ahead . 

Then nine montts after that , we would carry out 

a post- registratio~ visit, and t hat ' s where we would see 

the school in operation . Because the pre- registration , 

there wouldn ' t be any children and young people there , 

so then nine months after , we would see the school in 

operation . 

21 Q. Okay . 

22 

23 

24 

25 

Then t he second point there is that you note 

compliance visits where conditions have been imposed on 

the running of a school within residential or secure 

accommodation , or where a notice of complaint has been 

14 



1 

2 

3 

4 

served on such a school in accordance with part 5 of the 

1980 Act . 

Can you explai~ the role of the inspectors in 

relation to those matters? 

5 A . So where conditions have been imposed , then there is 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

usually a time limit for the condition, and inspectors 

would then carry out a visit to the school to ascertain 

what progress has been made in addressing the condition 

and whether the co~dition has been met or not , whether 

there ' s sufficient evidence that the condition has been 

met or not and , similarly, if they went on to the notice 

of complaint , and that might be a visit , depending on 

the nature , or it could be an inspection itself . 

And there are also some times where the conditions 

arise out of an inspection, and so it may be that 

inspectors -- or we have set out that we ' ll go back and 

carry out a further inspection and that , depending on 

the timescale , that we would review the conditions or 

the notice of complaint as part of that further 

inspection . 

21 LADY SMITH : For completeness, Janie , correct me if 

22 

23 

24 

I ' m wrong, but I don ' t think the Registrar of 

Independent Schools actually goes and inspects him or 

herself? 

25 A . No , the Registrar 

15 



1 
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LADY SMITH : The function of t he Registrar is to keep the 

register and only r.ave people on the register who should 

properly be there , but if there ' s any doubt about that, 

it's you or the Care Inspectorate , if appropriate 

A. Yes , it is . 

LADY SMITH : who will go out and see what ' s actually 

happening on the ground . 

8 A . Yes , and we will provide the Registrar with a report . 

9 LADY SMITH : Yes . Tha~k you . 

10 MS INNES : Then if we go on under ' Enforcement Powers ' at 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

paragraph 6 . 8 , you note that the Scottish Ministers ' 

enforcement powers in respect of public and grant- aided 

schools are set out at sections 66B to 66D of the 1980 

Act, and we 'l l come back to that in a different context . 

You then go on to talk about the powers of 

enforcement i n relation to independent schools , and you 

say that those are set out under section 98E of the 

1980 Act . 

Can you explai~ what those powers of enforcement are 

and what the Inspectorate ' s involvement is? 

21 A . So , again , where it ' s conditions or - - and t he 

22 

23 

24 

25 

conditions are imposed under section 98E then , again , 

inspectors would conduct compliance visits to monitor 

and report on the school ' s progress against those 

specific conditions , and we would provide a report on 

16 



1 the extent to whict the conditions have been met . 

2 Q. Then at paragraph 6 . 10, you note that there are certain 

3 
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provisions that if the Scottish Ministers are satisfied 

on any of the grou~ds set out in the notice that 

a registered school is objectionable, they must serve 

a notice of complaint, and then you have already told us 

about how inspectors would be involved in monitoring 

compliance with t he measures specified in the notice of 

complaint . 

Now, I would like to look at some documents in 

respect of the establishments that we ' re looking at in 

this case study, wtich perhaps provide some examples of 

the work of the In~pectorate and its liaison with the 

Registrar . 

So , first of all , if I can ask you , please , to look 

at SGV- 001033296 , and if we can go to page 6 of this 

document . This is in respect of Algrade School . It ' s 

a bit blurred . I t 's a letter from 4 November 1968 and 

it says here : 

' I am writing to let you know that Algrade School 

has today been registered provisionally in the Register 

of Independent Schools . 

' When the school has had time to become established, 

in a few months ' time you may expect to have a visit 

from HM Inspector of Schools . Following this , the 

17 
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2 

3 

school will be considered for fina l registration.' 

So that suggests a bit of a different process to the 

one that you ' ve set out? 

4 A . Yes, the process ctanged -- has changed , in that we 

5 

6 

7 

8 

carry out the pre-registration visit first and then we 

then go back in nine months to carry out 

a post- registratior visit . So the process of 

registration has ctanged . 

9 LADY SMITH : That makes sense . 

10 A . Yes . 

11 LADY SMITH : Because you don ' t want to regi ster a school , 

12 

13 

14 

15 

then there be an irspection, and the result of t he 

inspection be that it doesn ' t really justify 

registration at all because of the standards it ' s 

failing to meet . 

16 A . Yes . 

17 MS INNES : Now, if we can move on to page 9 , please , and 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

towards the bottom of this page , there is a handwritten 

note on 11 December 1968 , which is to HMI Mr Cumming 

from another inspector , and it says : 

'I visited the Algrade School today . This is 

a praiseworthy, voluntary effort and I a m prepared to 

recommend final recognition , subject to one minor 

technical conditior . There are possible complications 

about the total set up which I shall describe on 

18 
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2 

3 

a separate minute sheet .' 

So that looks to be the inspector making 

a recommendation of final registration at t h is point? 

4 A . Yes . 

5 LADY SMITH : And that ' s about five weeks after the 

6 

7 

registrati on , I think . The indication was registrati on 

in earl y November . 

8 MS INNES : Yes . 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

I f we go to page 10 , we see the beginning of 

a handwritten note , Algrade School , Humbie , and it says : 

' This independent school (for occupational centre 

l eve l chi l dren) was visited today to see whether it 

could receive final registration .' 

Then the note goes on to suggest d i fferent types of 

provision . 

I f we scroll down towards the bottom of the page , it 

refers to -- there is a so if we scroll up a bit , 

please sorry, down . 'A school . . . ' · 

' . .. for children of junior [and I think " OC " is 

"occupati onal centre" ) level , children can be and are 

both day and residential .' 

There is : 

' (b) , a ' craft centre ' for children of borderline 

i ntelligence . 

' (c) a playgroup for children who are clearly care 

19 



1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

centre level (that is untrainable and uneducable) . 

' (d) a senior occupational centre not yet opened , 

and then one residential villa .' 

So there seems to be a variety of different 

provisions within this --

6 A . Yes . 

7 Q . -- organisation . 

8 A. Yes . 

9 Q . Okay . 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

Now, if we can go on , please , to page 17 , there ' s 

a paragraph beginning : 

' One t hing which is worrying , both as a matter of 

general educational policy, and as a potential cause of 

difficult individual cases , is the trend towards 

" teaching '' the children , ie in the three Rs. This is 

confined to the sctool group . There can be no doubt 

that the parents wto are behind the school and the staff 

themselves have this as the ideal to be aimed at . The 

star "pupil" in this group was the girl who had " read 

a book" since comi~g here . Ms Macrae herself admits 

that t hat is why parents send their handicapped 

offspring here . I already have a file relating to 

a Midlothian teacher parent who is appealing to his EA 

[education authority] to have his child sent to Algrade 

because she will have the opportunity of learning to 

20 
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14 

read and will be i~structed by a teacher . I spoke at 

some length in plain terms to Ms Macrae about this 

danger . She accepts the point intellectually but not , 

I think, emotionally . All that we can hope to do here 

is gradually over the years to modify the staff ' s point 

of view . The prospect of educating parents is nothing 

if not long- term . Each set of parents comes to the 

problem afresh and a substantial proportion never come 

to terms with the extent and nature of their child ' s 

handicap.' 

Now, that would seem to be suggesting that the 

inspector's doubtful as to the fact that children who 

are at Algrade are capable of being educated . What is 

your reaction to ttat? 

15 A . I t ' s difficult sometimes to put into words, and 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

certainly the terminology being used, to say that 

children are uneducatable , using language that we 

wouldn ' t use today at all , because , you know , I would 

expect -- mos t certainly expect now that all children 

receive an education that is suitable to their needs and 

enables them to make progress , and that that education 

goes beyond the three Rs as well . 

23 Q. Then if we look at the final paragraph that we can see 

24 

25 

on the screen, it says : 

' As I have poi~ted out already, this is a one-woman 

21 
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show and it is unlikely that the rest of the school 

committee could carry on if Ms Macrae for any reason 

disappeared from tte scene.' 

So I think we understand that Ms Macrae was the 

person who was in charge , and the inspector here seems 

to be indicating a potential concern in relation to the 

ability of the school to carry on without her . 

Is the dependerce on a particular person something 

that the inspectors would l ook at? 

10 A . No , we would look at , overal , l , the governance , how the 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

school runs , and today , if we were looking at it , if 

such a school was dependent on one individual , t hen we 

wouldn ' t have confidence in that school to carry on 

actually and to furction as a school , and we would be 

l ooking at certainly what arrangements were in place to 

not only run the school but to have oversigh t of the 

school as well . 

So today we wo~ldn ' t see t hat school as having 

sufficient leaderst ip i n order to carry out its 

functions . 

21 Q. I think if we go or to the next page , p l ease , page 19 , 

22 

23 

there ' s another hardwritten note , which is commenting on 

Mr Petrie ' s note ttat we have just looked at , because 

24 LADY SMITH : Do we have a date for this? It ' s not s howing 

25 up on that page . 

22 



1 MS INNES : If we scroll down , it ' s 7 February 1969 . 

2 LADY SMITH : That's not long after the previous items that 

3 we looked at . Tha~k you . 

4 MS INNES : Yes . 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

Of course , we tave already seen that Mr Petrie 

recommended final recognition , and it says : 

' Subject to the school satisfying the fire 

authorities , as indicated in HMI Mr Petrie ' s note , final 

recognition shoul d be granted . 

' It is , of course , clear from Mr Petrie ' s paper that 

there is a serious r i sk we must take . What would happen 

to the school if a~d when Ms Macrae leaves it? ' 

But then there doesn ' t seem to be any answer to 

that . 

So the issue about governance seems to have been 

recognised . 

17 A . Yes . 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

Q. But I think if we go on to page 40 of this , this is much 

later , this is 22 April 1970 , a letter to Ms Macrae , and 

we can see there tr.at it says : 

'I am now writing to inform you that the final 

registration granted in respect of Algrade School 

relates only to Rose Cottage and the schoolroom. The 

number of children in attendance must not exceed 10 . 

' If you propose at any time to increase this number , 
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you should inform the Registrar at once . The Registrar 

should also be informed if you intend to alter or extend 

the school buildings or acquire additional buildings .' 

So it appears that there ' s a particular focus on 

some of the accommodation at Algrade as being registered 

as a school , and tten there ' s a suggestion that if 

there ' s to be any changes , the Registrar should be 

informed , and I think you mention that in your report 

9 A . Yes . 

10 Q. that if there was to be an increase , then 

11 HM Inspectors would be involved again . 

12 A . Yes . 

13 Q. Now, I ' d like to move away from Algrade and to 

14 

15 

16 

17 

1 8 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

Starley Hall , and to SGV-001032269 . 

We can see on the second page of this , that this is 

a letter from the Registrar of Independent Schools , but 

if we go back to tte first page , this is a letter to 

Mr Lorne Findlay of the Fife Council Social Work Service 

Inspection , Registration and Client Relations Unit , 

dated 28 January 1999 . So this was before the Care 

Commission were in place . If we scroll down , it says : 

' I refer to my brief telephone conversation with you 

about t he attached copy of a letter . .. ' 

From a person who has made allegations against 

a member of staff at Starley Hall . 
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10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

Al so referring to the dismissal of a teacher at the 

school and bullying at the school . 

It then goes o~ : 

' For registration of independent school s under t h e 

1980 Act , this department has previously asked 

i ndependent schools to inform us if a teacher has been 

dismissed or resig~s under circumstances which , had they 

not been dismissed or resigned , may have led to possible 

criminal proceedings being taken against them . However , 

they are under no legal obligation to do so . It is not 

clear from the letter whether the dismi ssal of a member 

of staff who may or may not have been a teacher is 

a recent occurrence or has happened in the far past . ' 

Then i t says : 

' Following consultation with the Schools 

I nspectorate , it is considered that we shoul d ask your 

department to investigate the allegations . If such 

an investigation were carried out , I woul d be grateful 

if you would keep ~s informed . ' 

So it appears that a complaint ' s been made to the 

Registrar , the Registrar has discussed it with t h e 

Education Inspectorate , and the decision is to ask t h e 

local authori ty to investigate . 

I s that a process that you recognise or not? 

25 A . So there are times where local authorities are involved , 
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2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

where local authorities would -- where they have the 

responsibility for a school , they would carry out 

an investigation . But ... (Pause) 

And I suppose to ascertain what action the school 

took , particularly where there have been staff being 

dismissed . 

7 Q . To put it another way , woul d Education Scotl and 

8 

9 

investigate that sort of issue now or would it go to , 

for example , the Care Inspectorate? 

10 A . So , as an Inspectorate , we don ' t have powers to 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

investigate , so we can 't carry out investigations 

ourse l ves . So that ' s where we would then be in contact 

with another body to carry out an investigation, whether 

that be social work, a local authority, Care 

Inspectorate , to carry work out , because we can ' t carry 

out that investigation ourselves . 

17 Q. Okay . So if the same thing happened today , it would go 

1 8 to one of these otter bodies --

19 A. Yes . 

20 Q. -- that you have mentioned for further investigation? 

21 A . Yes . 

22 Q. Okay . 

23 

24 

25 

Now, staying with Starley Hall School , but looking 

at a different issue , if we can look , please , at 

SGV-001032116 . 
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We can see that this is a letter dated 2 May 2007 to 

the director of Starley Hall School , and we see that it 

refers to registration of independent schools . 

I t then goes or to say: 

' The Scottish Ministers have considered the HMie 

report published today and I wish to inform you that 

under the powers specified in section 98E(l) (a) of the 

Education (Scotland) Act 1980 , the Scottish Ministers 

consider it necessary to prevent [the school] from 

becoming objectionable in terms of section 99(1A) (a) to 

impose the following conditions on the carrying on of 

the school .' 

The first condition is that : 

' The school mu~t , by 3 September 2007 , ensure that 

it has a sufficient number of qualified and/or 

experienced teachers to enable del ivery of a suitably 

broad curriculum to meet the needs of all the young 

people in school ard be delivering such a curriculum to 

all the young people in the school .' 

The second condition is that : 

' By the same date , all staff must have been made 

fully aware of the school ' s policy on managing 

challenging behaviour of young people and all staff must 

be implementing that policy consistently, with the aim 

that young people are more engaged in learning and 
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achievement and attainment are improved .' 

Then it goes o~ to note that it ' s possible to appeal 

against the imposition of these conditions . 

So is this an example of an HMie report highlighting 

issues which then give rise to the use of the powers in 

the legislation? 

7 A . Yes , it is . 

8 Q . Are these the sorts of conditions that you would see 

9 imposed today or not? 

10 A . There are times where we would see conditions i mposed 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

about curriculum, and particularly the breadth of the 

curriculum . We would also see conditions around 

behaviour or conditions around policies not being in 

place , and then the condition would also put the policy 

being updated or put into place , but also implementation 

of the policy . So we would see similar types of 

conditions today . 

18 Q. What sort of factors would give rise to conditions being 

19 

20 

21 

22 

imposed, as opposed to you just saying in your report , 

' There needs to be a policy in relation to this ', or, 

' The policy needs to be reviewed'? How does it get to 

this stage? 

23 A . So it can get to ttis stage in a number of areas . It 

24 

25 

can be a stage where a school -- in conversations with 

the inspectors , the confidence level that t he inspectors 
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have that the school will carry out areas for 

recommendation . So if there ' s been a school inspection 

and we ' ve set out areas of recommendation, we will form 

a view on the level of confidence that the school will 

carry that out , and that view is formed over the course 

of interactions that we ' ve had with the school during 

the t ime t hat we ' ve been t here. 

It can always also arise where we have set o ut areas 

of i mprovement in an inspection report and , when we h ave 

gone back to carry out a further inspection, there has 

not been sufficient progress has taken place . 

Therefore , we would then -- we would not have the 

confidence that enough progress was taking place or the 

pace of the progre~s . 

15 Q . Okay . 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

Now, in relation to these conditions , if we can move 

on , please , to SGV- 001032162 . This is a report of 

a vis i t to Starley Hall Sch ool in relation to t h ese 

conditions , and the visit is dated 26 September 2007 , so 

just after the deadl i ne for compliance , and there are 

certain background notes . 

If we look dow~ to ' Conclusions and recommendation s 

for d i scussion witt the Registrar ', it notes in relation 

to conditi on 1: 

' The inspector is confident that the school now has 
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a sufficient number of qualified and/or experienced 

teachers .' 

Then in relation to condition 2 , the inspector says : 

' I am confident that all staff have been made fully 

aware of the school ' s policy on managing challenging 

behaviour of young people with the aim that young people 

are more engaged i~ learning and that achievement and 

attainment are improving as behaviour management and 

other factors (eg choice of programmes and changes to 

learning approaches) improve . I am less confident , as 

are staff themselves , that all staff are implementing 

that policy consistently, although the intent to do so 

is clearly there from management and the willingness 

from the staff themselves . This is as much due to the 

time allowed for such a significant change to take place 

and to be clearly demonstrated and evidenced.' 

So the inspector on this visit seems to have some 

concern about the implementation in practice of the 

policy? 

20 A . Yes . 

21 Q. I s that, again , something that you would look at at 

22 a follow-up visit? 

23 A . Yes , we would look at that , and particularly where it ' s 

24 

25 

around managing challenging behaviour , it would also -­

you can see a policy is in place , but there may not have 
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been instances of challenging behaviour that you can 

then see how well the policy has actually been 

implemented . So ttat can sometimes -- what it means by 

time . So we would sometimes say it ' s not had time to be 

embedded or it ' s not had time to take full effect . 

6 Q . So if we look on , please , to SGV-001032154 , this is 

7 

8 

9 
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a follow- up letter to the director of Starley Hall 

School , dated 29 October 2007 , and it is headed , 

' Consideration of Removal of Conditions on 

Registration ' . It appears that the director has 

enclosed a school improvement plan with a letter of 

29 August , and it ~otes the Scottish Ministers have 

considered the evidence which was submitted and the 

advice received from HMie following a visit to the 

school , and the first condition was then revoked . 

The second condition is then noted , and then , at the 

bottom of the page , it says : 

' With regard to this condition, the evidence and the 

HMie advice demonstrated that good progress had been 

made in respect of staff now being aware of the school ' s 

behavioural policy but there are still weaknesses in 

respect of the implementation across the school . The 

Scottish Ministers have therefore decided to refuse your 

request for the co~dition to be revoked . However , in 

recognition of partial compliance and the good work 

31 



1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

which has been undertaken by the school , the Scottish 

Ministers ... decided to vary the condition . ' 

And it says : 

' The school ma~agement should , by 31 January 2008 , 

ensure that staff are implementing the school behaviour 

policy consistently and that they have appropriate 

monitoring processes in place to provide supporting 

evidence .' 

So this letter is dated October 2007 , so that ' s 

providing another timeframe , and the condition is 

specifically to look at implementation of policy? 

12 A. Yes . 

13 Q. Again , is that the sort of thing that can happen if 

14 there ' s a concern about policy implementation? 

15 A . Yes , that can happen , and that happens today , and it 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

sometimes depends on the scale of the condition that has 

been met, and there are elements where parts of 

conditions will be met incrementally, so elements are 

then revoked, but ~ew conditions can be put into place 

to cover the areas that now need to be taken forward as 

well . 

22 LADY SMITH : I suppose in doing it this way , it keeps the 

23 school , if you like , on the end of a piece of string . 

24 

25 

The key is to work out what ' s a period of extension to 

give them that will keep up the pressure , effectively, 

32 



1 but isn ' t too long for the sake of the children . 

2 A . Yes , and both areas , to keep that incremental change , 

3 

4 

5 

6 

but also to show wtere progress is being made -- and 

that it ' s not just a 'No , we ' re keeping the 

condition ' -- progress has been made in this part of it , 

but there ' s still more work to be done . 

7 LADY SMITH : So here ttey ' re being given four months --

8 A . Yes . 

9 LADY SMITH : -- which is quite a lot , and then t hey 'll be 

10 

11 

examined again , in about four months , to find out what 

progress has been made? 

12 A . Yes . 

13 LADY SMITH : Thank you . 

14 MS INNES : Then i f we look on , please, to SGV-001032144 , we 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

see a l etter to the director of Starley Hall School , 

this time dated 5 June 2008 , and it refers to 

an integrated inspection between HMie and the Care 

Commission . The i~spection was carried out in February 

and the report was published on 3 June . That includes 

HMie advi ce in respect of the school ' s compliance with 

the condition, and it notes below it : 

' The Scottish Ministers have considered the 

contents of the report and the advice in respect of the 

condition .' 

And the ministers were satisfied that the condition 
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had now been met a~d should be revoked . So the 

condition was then revoked as of June 2008 . 

I suppose the inspection there was carried out in 

February, so there's a few months passed with t he school 

still being subject to that condition . Do you know why 

there would be that time lag? 

7 A . So the time from tte inspection to , I suppose, the 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

inspection report being published will be actually to 

compile the report and for it to go through quality 

assurance to make sure the evidence is sound , is what 

happens just now . 

At the moment - - what can happen at the moment is , 

in between that period , that advice is then provided on 

conditions in between that period, between , I suppose , 

the fieldwork of i~spection taking place and then the 

report being published . 

17 LADY SMITH : Advice by the Inspectorate to whom? 

18 A . It would be to the Registrar or to minis ters . 

19 LADY SMITH : Or both? 

20 A . Well , it would be the same report that would go to --

21 LADY SMITH : Right . But meanwhile , no further communication 

22 with t he school ; is that right? 

23 A . No , there wouldn ' t be , yeah . 

24 LADY SMITH : Thank you . 

25 MS INNES : If the Inspectorate provided advice in t he 
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intervening period, do you know if the condition could 

then be lifted eve~ before the published report or does 

it have to wait for the published report? 

4 A . No , it doesn ' t have to wait until the published report . 

5 Q. Okay . 

6 

7 

8 

But in this ca~e , it appears that the condition 

wasn ' t lifted until the report was published; is that 

right? 

9 A . Yes , it appears that way . 

10 Q. Okay . 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 
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23 

Now, if we can move back to your main report now , 

please , at SGV- 001(33534 , page 12 , at paragraph 6 . 12 , 

under the heading , ' Additional Support Needs '. 

You refer agai~ to the Education (Additional Support 

for Learning) (Scotland) Act 2004 and how that provides 

the relevant legal framework, and you also note that 

education authorities and appropriate agencies , such as 

NHS boards , have a duty to have regard to the statutory 

code of practice wten carrying out their functions under 

the 2004 Act . 

Is compliance with that statutory code something 

that the inspector will consider when carrying out 

an inspection? 

24 LADY SMITH : That ' s in the penultimate line of 6 . 12 , and 

25 there ' s a link to a guidance document . 
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1 A . Yes , sorry . 

2 LADY SMITH : Yes? 

3 A. Yes, we do . 

4 MS INNES : Okay . So you will consider whether the statutory 

5 code of practice is being applied? 

6 A . Yes . 

7 Q . Okay . 

8 

9 

Does the code of practice also apply to the 

Inspectorate, as a~ agency or a body? (Pause) 

10 A . I will need to check that . 

11 Q. Okay . I just wasn't sure from the way in which it was 

12 

13 

framed . I think it ' s referring to other agencies other 

than the Inspectorate , perhaps. 

14 A . Yeah . I can come back with that one . 

15 Q . You can clarify that . Thank you . 

16 

17 

1 8 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

If we can move on to page 13 of your report . You 

deal in section 8 with the approach to inspecting 

schools within residential care for establishments for 

children and young people with long-term health needs , 

additional support needs and disabilities . 

Again , at paragraph 8 . 2 , you refer to t he specific 

schools that are still in operation that we ' re dealing 

with in this case study , and you note that the 

Royal Blind School , Donaldson ' s Trus t and Harmeny Trus t 

are all grant-aided special schools ; is that right? 
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1 A . Yes . 

2 Q. Although you note Donaldson ' s no longer provides 

3 

4 

5 

residential care . 

Then you say tte other schools , Seamab and 

Starley Hall , are independent special schools . 

6 A . Yes . 

7 Q . At paragraph 8 . 3 , you say that there are currently 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

a further two schools within residential care 

establishments for children and young people with 

long-term hea lthcare needs and disabilities , and these 

are East Park School and Stanmore House School . Both of 

these schools are grant aided . 

13 A . Yes . 

14 Q. So are these seven schools all of the residential 

15 special schools in Scotland? 

16 A . Yes . 

17 Q. Are there other special schools that provide day 

1 8 provision only? 

19 A . Yes , t here will be . 

20 Q. Okay . But as far as residential schools are concerned, 

21 

22 

the only ones remaining are these seven , and none of 

them are public sctools? 

23 A . That ' s correct . 

24 Q. At paragraph 8 . 4 , you say : 

25 ' In addition to inspection, these schools are also 
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visited by HM I nspector each year in what is known as an 

annual engagement visit . An HM Inspector is assigned on 

an ongoing basis to each of these schools as a l i nk 

inspector . ' 

Does this appointment of somebody as a link 

i nspector only apply to these residenti al special 

schoo l s or does it appl y more broadl y? 

8 A . It applies more broadly . We have link inspector --

9 

10 

11 

l inkage inspectors for independent school s , we h ave them 

for colleges as well , and we are re-introducing them for 

local authori ties . 

12 Q . Okay . 

13 LADY SMITH : We discussed the link inspector system in the 

14 

15 

board i ng schools section when you came to give evidence , 

if I remember rightly , Janie . 

16 A . Yes . 

17 MS INNES : Now, if we move down to section 9 , you talk about 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

how HM Inspectors apply the school qual ity framework in 

the type of schools that we ' re looking at in this case 

study . 

I f we go on to the top of page 14 , you note that the 

current standards are set out in the quality framework, 

' How Good is our School? ', 2015 , the fourth edition, 

which was in 2015 , and you say this framework applies to 

the inspection of all schools i n Scotland . 
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1 A. That ' s correct . 

2 Q. So that applies to residential special schools? 

3 A. Yes . 

4 Q . Now, if we go on , please , to page 15 . If we can look , 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

1 8 

please , at paragraph 9 . 7 , you talk about the way in 

which the framework is applied to schools for children 

with additional support needs . So you say at 9 . 7 : 

' In addition to evaluating and grading four quality 

indicators , HM Inspectors also evaluate two additional 

themes which are particularly relevant to independent 

special schools and grant-aided schools .' 

The f irst one is t he governance framework t heme , and 

you say that this would be relevant in an independent 

residential special school as these schools have 

a proprietor and are not governed by a local authority . 

So would I be right in thinking that this t heme 

would also apply to independent schools more generally, 

as well as to special schools? 

19 A. Yes . Yes . 

20 Q. Then at 2 . 4 , there is a targeted support scheme, and you 

21 

22 

23 

24 

say this is relevart in this sector as all children and 

young people will be receiving personalised support due 

to their long-term healthcare needs and disabilities . 

Are you able to explain that a bit further? 

25 A. Yes . So in this particular sector , we would see very 
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individualised p l a~ning for each individual chil d or 

young person , that's what we would call targeted 

support . 

And in a mainstream school , you woul d see group 

planning or whole-class p lanning for taking forward 

learning . But in thi s sector , we would see 

individualised p l a~ning . So we woul d want to look at 

the targets for learning that are being set , we would 

want to look at who ' s invol ved in setting t hose targets , 

and how the individual needs of each child and young 

person is bei ng taken forward . 

So that ' s why the targeted support t h eme is 

particularly i mportant . 

14 Q. Now, paragraph 9 . 8 , you say as in all school 

15 

16 

17 

1 8 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

inspections , i n inspecting the schools t hat we ' re 

l ooking at here , t te focus will be on t he children and 

young people ' s learning experiences within and beyond 

the c l assroom and l ooking at how a school is performing . 

Then at paragraph 9 . 9 , you go on to set out some 

informati on about the specific factors that the 

inspectors consider when looking at schools in t h is 

sector in a different way , perhaps , to in other 

setti ngs . 

I f we go t o paragraph 9 .10 , at the bottom of that 

page , you say that in these settings , HM Inspectors 
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recognise that all children -- and then at the top of 

the page and yo~ng people have a range of individual 

learning needs . 

Is that essentially linked to what you ' ve just been 

saying about targeted support? 

6 A . Yes, it is . 

7 Q . But does it impact on any of the other quality 

8 indicators that yo~ •re looking at? 

9 A . Yes , so it impacts on learning, teaching and 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

achievement , because it impacts on how needs have been 

met . So those sort of themes about meeting needs run 

across quite a few quality indicators . 

And it also li~ks in with attainment and 

achievement, because you would be looking at the 

individualised targets and , for some children and young 

people , the targets would be quite small and 

incremental , but are still demonstrating that children 

and young people are making progress in their learning . 

So we would want to look at how that links in terms of 

progress as well , to look at how their needs are being 

met . 

22 LADY SMITH : So you say you ' ve come a long way from writing 

23 children off as being ineducable --

24 A . A very long way . 

25 LADY SMITH : was that word was used , as we saw in an 
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1 earlier document . 

2 A . Yes . 

3 LADY SMITH : All children should be capable of some 

4 education? 

5 A. Yes . 

6 LADY SMITH : You would go as far as that? 

7 A . Yes . 

8 LADY SMITH : Thank you . 

9 MS INNES : Then you go on to speak about different , 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

essentially, learning styles or the way in which pupils 

use different modes of communication and , at 

paragraph 9 . 11 , the way in which staff understand and 

apply teaching approaches to address these issues is 

something that would be looked at . 

15 A . Yes . 

16 Q . At paragraph 9 . 13 , you talk about evaluations of how the 

17 

18 

19 

school uses technology , including assistive technology . 

Are you able to tell us a bit more about what the 

inspector would be considering in relation to t his ? 

20 A . So we would be looking at how children and young people 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

are communicating and whether technology assists 

children and young people to communicate . 

We would also be looking at the extent to which the 

assistive technology is helping children and young 

people to be independent in their learning, and the 
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5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

range of technology or tech nological packages that are 

being used and whether those packages are helping 

children and young people make progress in their 

l earni ng , or whether t h ey ' re there to pass t h e time . So 

we ' d be looking at the quality of packages as well and 

we ' d also be looking at how staff are using those 

packages as part of their l earning . 

And it links back in to the targeted support : what 

are the targets , ard does the technology support 

progress with those targets? 

11 Q . Then a t paragraph 9 . 14 , you refer again to h ow you 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

consider how wel l staff recognise and track l earners ' 

progress , and you look at , going on over the page , how 

well the school i dentify and record all forms of 

progress . 

At paragraph 9 . 15 , you say that inspectors would be 

reviewing individual learning plans , so going down to 

the detai l of an irdividual chil d ' s learning plan . 

19 A . Yes . 

20 Q . Broadly, how many of these learning plans would 

21 

22 

an inspector look at in an inspection of one of these 

establishments? 

23 A . So it would -- it depends on the s i ze of the 

24 

25 

estab l ishment . I n some establishments , the team woul d 

look at all of them, depending on the n umber of children 
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2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

that are in an e stablishment . Larger establishments , we 

would then sample . But we would be sampling the 

indivi dual learning plan while we ' re observing learning 

as well , so you ' d be looking at the learning , you ' d be 

looking at the interaction with the staff and the child , 

and then if -- also where we needed to cross-reference 

with a n individual plan , we woul d go back and do that . 

8 Q . Then at paragraph 9 . 16, you note in the middle of that 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

paragraph that in these schools , there is a particul ar 

focus on ensuring that learners make as much progress as 

poss i b le in relation to their own strengths and needs 

and, again , that ' s what you ' ve been emphasising , 

I think? 

14 A. Yes . 

15 Q . At paragraph 9 . 17 , to evaluate attainment and 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

achievement, inspectors would l ook at learni ng , look at 

examples of work , and also look at the schools ' 

atta i nment data . 

So what would that involve in t h is particular type 

of setting? 

21 A . So it woul d l ook at different level s of accreditation 

22 

23 

2 4 

25 

and achievement levels as well , depending on the needs 

of the individual chi ldren and young people . We may 

l ook at Curriculum for Exce l lence l evel s or we may 

look which the schools will have a note of as part of 
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1 

2 

3 

their attainment data . But we may look at other 

accreditation as well , if it ' s taken place , with 

achievement . 

4 Q . What sort of other accreditations could you look at? 

5 A . So you may look at different awards that children have , 

6 

7 

8 

9 

or if there are any awards -- particularly if it ' s going 

into senior phase education . So you ' d be looking at 

Scottish SCQF Awards and different courses that children 

are undertaking . 

10 Q . If we look down to the next paragraph , at 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

paragraph 9 . 18 , yo~ note that whilst the expectation is 

that all schools provide high- quality education, there 

are distinct challenges in these settings , and you note 

that many pupils wto have complex healthcare needs , that 

can impact attenda~ce , and then that has a consequent 

impact on learning . 

How do inspectors deal with that sort of issue? 

1 8 A . So it ' s a similar issue , ' cause we would expect those 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

the care needs to be part of that care plan, that 

indivi dualised pla~ . We would be looking at , for 

example , if children and young people needed to spend 

periods of time in hospital , how education was being 

provided by the sctool and then , in terms of 

consolidating lear~ing , what was happening to ensure 

that there ' s consolidation and continuity of learn ing . 
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1 

2 

3 

So there ' s a lot of emphasis on the information in 

these individualised plans to look at where that 

conti nuity of lear~ing is coming through . 

4 Q . You refer there in your evidence and you refer in your 

5 

6 

report to care pla~s . Are these the same as individual 

learni ng plans or are they separate? 

7 A . So they can be the same , with different sections in it . 

8 

9 

In its totality, its individualised learning plans and 

care p l ans for an individual . 

10 LADY SMITH : Who will tave written these plans? 

11 A. So the school will have written the plans , but we would 

12 expect mul ti- agency input into those plans as we l l . 

13 LADY SMITH : Well , that would be my next question , because 

14 there ' s more than just the school to draw on --

15 A. Yes . 

16 LADY SMITH : -- for knowledge and information and good 

17 ideas , so far as wtat might help the child . 

18 A . Yes . 

19 MS INNES : Now, from wtat you ' ve been saying in relation to 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

these particular settings , inspectors have to look in 

detai l at the various aspects that you ' ve referred to . 

Do inspectors who are going into residential special 

schools have to have particular knowledge , experience or 

training? 

25 A . Yes . So we have -- we expect our inspectors that are 
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going into a specialised provision have got experience , 

training and up-to-date training . So we have a team of 

inspectors with specialist backgrounds in particular 

aspects of additio~al support who have been senior 

leaders in similar types of provision , or where we 

haven ' t , then we p~t the training in place . 

7 Q . What sort of training might be relevant for the 

8 inspectors in this setting? 

9 A . So in types of training , we ' ll be looking at 

10 

11 

12 

trauma-informed practices that we ' re looking at . We 'll 

be looking at comm~nication , so British Sign Language as 

well , and de- escalation techniques in behaviour as well . 

13 Q. Okay . 

14 

15 

16 

17 

1 8 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

Now, if we can look on , please , to page 19 of your 

report , and past i~spection practice . 

At paragraph lC . 6 , you refer to the fact that past 

practice of HM Inspector of Schools had been to review 

the welfare of pupils at residential schools as 

an aspect of runni~g the schools . 

Then, at paragraph 10 . 7 , you refer to 

Professor Levitt ' s report , and you say that three forms 

of welfare inspection were noted in the 1996 inspection 

guidelines , which followed the passing of the Children 

(Scotland ) Act 1995 and , at (iii, we see t hat i t says : 

' A further inspection would occur where a school 
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7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

catering for special education needs was subject to 

an inspection under the rota . In the SEN schools , 

a joi nt i nspection was intended to reflect the 

under l ying principle t hat the integrated nature of the 

schools should be recognised by inspecting educational 

and welfare provi sion at the same time . HM Inspectors 

would also have access to the inspection reports of the 

respective local a~thority social work departments .' 

so , again , this was prior to the Care Inspectorate 

or the Care Commission coming in and local authorities 

were carrying out inspections . 

Do HMi e ever i~spect residential special schools on 

their own or is it always a j oint inspection with the 

Care Inspectorate ~ow? 

15 A . No , we inspect on our own . 

16 Q . So t here woul d be some joint inspections , but some would 

17 just be in respect of education? 

1 8 A . Yes . 

19 Q. If you ' re carrying out an i nspection, obviously when 

20 

21 

22 

23 

it' s made public , that would be available to everybody 

to look at , but do you provide information t hat arises 

during the course of your i nspection to the 

Care Inspectorate at an earlier stage? 

24 A . Yes , depending on the nature of the information . We 

25 have a memorandum of unders tanding with the Care 
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5 

6 

I nspectorate and we ' ve really improved the 

information-sharing . So we will share where we ' re 

inspecting and , likewise , the Care Inspectorate do that 

with us , and if the Care Inspectorate are inspecting and 

there is anything relevant that we need to know, they 

will let us know and vice versa . 

7 Q . Okay . 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

If we can move on , p lease , to page 21 and 

paragraph 10 . 15, wtere you ' re referring to work that ' s 

done before an inspection . You note there that prior to 

every inspection, a questionnaire is issued to staff , 

pupils , parents and stakeholders and you ' ve given 

evidence about this before . 

How do you deal with that where you have children in 

the school who have communication differences? 

16 A . So at the moment wtat we do is there will be times where 

17 

1 8 

19 

they will need an adult to help them, but we also have 

what we call an easy- read version that has face emojis 

that children and young people can access . 

20 Q. How do they go aboLt accessing it? Would they have to 

21 do that with a member of staff at t he school? 

22 A . Yes . 

23 Q. I assume that you would be dependent on the school 

24 

25 

sending or providi~g t hose questionnaires to the 

children and them sending them back to you? 
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1 A . Yes , or electronic -- or accessing t hem - - e l ectronic or 

2 a written version , yes , we are . 

3 Q . Do you have any otter ways of interacting wi th children 

4 

5 

6 

7 

prior to an inspection? So , for exampl e , we ' ve heard 

that the Care Inspectorate have videos where they ' ve got 

an animation or , you know, they send a video in advance 

that can be shared with the young peopl e . 

8 A . Not currently videos . What we do is we send photographs 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

of the inspectors who are going to be part of t h e team 

to the school so ttat the children and young people are 

familiar , but we ' re not currently doing that at the 

moment . However, that is something that -- we are 

carrying out a review of our school inspection 

frameworks , and a key focus of that is children and 

young people engagement . 

16 Q . When you are actually at the school , you ' ve mentioned 

17 

18 

19 

20 

BSL, for example , so presumably - - do you send 

an inspector with a specific qualification in BSL so 

they can communicate directly with children, or do you 

use interpreters? 

21 A . So we do both . So we can - - we have inspectors who are 

22 

23 

trained in BSL , but we will a lso access our own 

interpreter to come with us to the school as well . 

24 Q. Again , we have heard evidence of different communication 

25 methods that can be used, for example Social Stories or 
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Talking Mats or a PECS system . 

Do your inspectors use these methods to communicate 

with children? 

4 A . What we will do is we will use the key sources of 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

communication that the school uses that the children and 

young people are familiar with , and because our 

inspectors come from the sectors , they are familiar with 

using that type of tool kit . So we ' ll use whatever the 

school is using for communication , and that ' s how we ' ll 

engage with children and young people . 

11 Q. Okay . 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

You have mentioned already that there ' s a review of 

the inspection approach going on , and one of the areas 

i s in relation to the voice of the child . 

Are you able to tell us what sort of things you ' re 

looking at? 

A . So we ' re looking at the moment , in the review of 

schoo l inspections , we ' re looking at it in its totality . 

So we ' re looking at the framework , ' How good is our 

school? ' It needs to be updated and we need to look at 

specifically what we do with specific guidance for 

specific sectors as part of that , whether we have 

a generic and then subject specific or sector specific . 

We are looking at engagement with children and young 

people and how we can make much better use of digital 
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8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

means to engage with children and young people . 

Our questionnaires . So we ' re looking at what we do 

before , what we do during inspection as well , and how we 

can engage with a much broader group of children and 

young people and , again , how children and young people 

can access inspectors much more during inspection. 

And then , following the inspection, the reporting 

mechanism , how we communicate , and part of that is we ' ll 

be looking at how we communicate with children and young 

people as well . 

So it is a whole-scale review that we ' re carrying 

out . 

13 LADY SMITH : You have ~aid a number of times , Janie , that 

14 

15 

16 

you ' re looking at what you do in different ways . Do you 

have a particular project directed at t his at t he mome nt 

that ' s ongoing? 

17 A . Yes . So we have started the review, and up until 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

Easter , we were gathering informal views . We ' re taking 

a different approach to the review of inspections this 

time than previously. So we ' ve been gathering general 

views from childrer and young people , and t hen we will 

then determine our fixed areas that we will go out to 

public consultatior on . 

24 LADY SMITH : Is this with an eye to how the Inspectorate 

25 will function , assuming the current bill is passed in 
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1 

2 

substantially the same form as i t ' s in at t he moment and 

in the not too distant future? 

3 A . Yes, it is . But it needed to be done anyway . The 

4 

5 

6 

7 

framework , 2015 , it ' s a long time , and had i t not been 

for COVID, the review of the framework would certainly 

have taken place. But education has evolved so much 

that we need to look at our practices as well . 

8 LADY SMITH : We ' ll no doubt come back to this , but as I read 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

the bill , it seems to underline the recognition that 

your inspectorate ~eeds to have the freedom to run 

itself , be independent and make its own decisions as to 

what matters and wtat doesn ' t , and this would seem to 

sound like the sort of thing that you ' d be wanting to do 

without anybody looking over your shoulder . 

15 A . Yes , and looking at -- the intentions of the bill is to 

16 

17 

1 8 

19 

20 

look at the freque~cy , the focus of inspection would sit 

with the Inspectorate , a detailed inspection plan would 

be publicly available , and that there would also be an 

advisory council t tat the Chief Inspector would need to 

have due regard for . 

21 LADY SMITH : And t he style of your communications might look 

22 rather different i~ the future? 

23 A . Yes , yes , and we ' re undertaking some work with some 

24 

25 

other inspectorates around how we can take reports and 

tailor them for different audiences to make sure they ' re 
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1 more accessible and not as much jargon . 

2 LADY SMITH : Good . Thank you . 

3 Ms Innes . 

4 MS INNES : Thank you , my Lady . 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

If we look to the bottom of page 21 , under the 

heading ' During the i nspection ', you refer there to 

reference being made to national guidance for c hild 

protection in Scotland from 2021 and quality 

indicator 2 . 1 when inspecting safeguarding and child 

protection approac~es . 

Then you say ir. schools within res i dential and 

secure accommodation , the Scottish Government national 

guidance, which has included, engaged and involved 

part 3 , is particularly relevant as thi s contains 

guidance in relation to the use of physical intervention 

and seclusion . 

Am I right in thinking that this is updated guidance 

published, I think , in November of l ast year? 

19 A . Yes . 

20 Q. You will then look at how the school is complying with 

21 that guidance . 

22 A . Yes . 

23 Q. You note , for example , in this setting, that you ' ll look 

24 

25 

at how school s manage the use of equipment t hat coul d 

restrict freedom of movement . For example , a wheelchair 
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strap could be considered a mechanical restraint , 

depending on the context in which it's used . 

3 A . Yes . 

4 Q . Then if we go on to paragraph 10 . 19, you say that you 

5 

6 

7 

8 

review the school ' s p lans and protocols , all the 

different documents that you look at . 

Is that any different to what you would do in other 

schools or is it essentially the same? 

9 A . I t ' s t he same . 

10 Q. Then at paragraph 10 . 20 , you say that during inspections 

11 

12 

13 

14 

HM Inspectors will arrange focus groups with children 

and young people t tat include discussions about feeling 

safe in school , bullying and children ' s rights . 

Are these also done in residential special schools? 

15 A . Yes . 

16 Q . But I assume , as you ' ve been discussing , that t he way in 

17 

1 8 

which children communicate would have to be 

accommodated? 

19 A . Yes . 

20 Q. Then at paragraph 10 . 21 , you refer to the various 

21 

22 

23 

policies t hat you would review to see if they comply 

with national guidance , and I assume that ' s the same in 

all schools? 

24 A . I t is , yes . 

25 MS INNES : Okay . 
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1 I' m conscious of t h e time , my Lady . 

2 LADY SMITH : Is that a~ appropriate point to break? 

3 MS INNES : Yes , i t is . 

4 LADY SMITH : Jani e , you may remember , I usua l ly take a break 

5 about this point i~ the morning , and if that would work 

6 for you, we ' ll do that just now . 

7 (11 . 30 a m) 

8 (A short break) 

9 (11. 50 a m) 

10 LADY SMITH : Janie , welcome back . Are you ready for us to 

11 carry on? 

12 A . Yes , t hanks . 

13 LADY SMITH : Thank you . 

14 Ms Innes . 

15 MS INNES : Thank you , my Lady . 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

I f we can move on in your report to section 1 1 on 

page 24 , please . This is where you start giving some 

i nformation in relation to the specific insti tutions 

that we ' re looking at i n this case study . 

At paragraph 11 . 2 , you say the records t hat are the 

basis of Education Scotland ' s knowl edge of t h e nature 

a nd extent of abuse at these establishments is more 

limited than for previous report s provi ded to the 

I nqui ry . 

Do you know why that is? Why is it more limited in 
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1 these institutions? 

2 A . So for some of these institutions , it wasn ' t always 

3 

4 

clear the sort of roles and responsibilities and who was 

responsible for inspecting . 

5 Q . I think you mentio~ that particularly in relation to 

6 hospital schools --

7 A. Yes . 

8 Q . which we ' ll come back to in due course . 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

Okay . If we move on , please , to page 25 and 

paragraph 11 . 4 , you refer , in the first paragraph there , 

to a report, first of all , in February 1971 in relation 

to inspection reports at Corsbie Hal l School in Fife , 

and at that time , in February 1971 , it was suggested 

that some boys were being regularly assaulted by other 

children . 

16 A. Yes . 

17 Q. There was a suggestion that one of the housefathers had 

1 8 

19 

20 

21 

thrown a boy t hrough a window, and i t says that it was 

noted that this was said to have happened some time ago 

and it seemed unwise , under the circumstances , to 

cross - examine the boys on this story . 

22 A . Yes . 

23 Q. Now, if an inspector was to be told that a child had 

24 

25 

been t hrown througt a window in the course of 

an inspection , what action would the inspector take 
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1 nowadays? 

2 A . So the action that inspectors would take nowadays would 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

be to see if the school was aware of it through the 

child protection co- ordinator , and what if the school 

was or wasn ' t aware of it , what action the school had 

taken in terms of alerting the appropri ate aut horities 

to take that work forward . 

8 LADY SMITH : Janie , let ' s say the school tell you , ' Oh , yes , 

9 

10 

11 

we know all about this , we knew about it ', would your 

inspectors then say, ' Can we see your records about it, 

please ' ? 

12 A . Yes , we would go t t rough the records to l ook at what had 

13 

14 

been recorded , who had recorded it , but also the 

follow-up as well . 

15 LADY SMITH : Thank you . 

16 MS INNES : Now, if we can look , please , at SGV- 001033714 , 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

and at page 27 . 

Now, this , we can see , is a report in relation to 

Corsbie Hall School in Fife based on visits paid in May 

and June 1971 . So that ' s after the report that you have 

referred to in your report there , which was February of 

the same year . 

If we look in the note , it says : 

' At the risk of some clumsiness and repetition , the 

form of this report will follow as closely as possible 
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5 

6 
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8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

that which was based on visits by HM Inspectors on the 

week beginning 8 February 1971 . ' 

That ' s a report that you have just told us about in 

your report . 

Now, if we can go down under ' Staffing ', there is 

a paragraph which begins -- the largest paragraph there, 

which is : 

'There are three additions to the child care staff, 

Mrs Dickson , Mr Carrigan and Mr lila- Only Mr lillll has 

had any previous experience of this kind of work . He 

was with Mr in the Newton Stewart branch 

of Corsbie Hall since its early days and had been with 

Barnardo ' s before that . He came to Thornton following 

KWD-KVL a dispute with who are now - at 

Newton Stewart .' 

We' 11 come back to other references to Mr lillll but 

here it appears to be noted that this person had some 

experience of childcare , whereas the other people 

didn ' t . 

20 A . Yes . 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

Q . We can see reference to Mr who I think we 

understand was - of Corsbie Hall , both in Fife 

and in Newton Stewart at the time . 

If we can go on , please , to page 29 , and again 

towards the bottom of the page , there is a section 
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1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

headed ' School discipline and sanctions ', and it says : 

' There has been no change in policy . The system of 

merits and demerits remains unaltered . According to 

Mr - ! SNR at the time] more money is 

being awarded for good behaviour and less withheld for 

misdemeanours . ' 

I t appears that there was a system where there would 

be financial penalties . 

9 A . Yes . 

10 Q. I assume that is something that you wouldn ' t expect to 

11 see nowadays? 

12 A . No , we wouldn ' t expect to see that . 

13 Q. Then it says : 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

' With reference to t he story in the l ast report of 

a boy having been thrown through 

admitted that there had been grounds for thi s report and 

that he , the housefather and five boys had gone to 

Glenrothes police station where an investigation had 

been conducted by a police inspector . The five boys had 

i nsisted that the pupil had been thrown through 

a window . Mr lililillllllll was adamant , however , t hat when the 

housefather had attempted to remove the pupil bodily 

from the dini ng room for insolence , the boy had 

struggl ed and put his elbow through a pane of g l ass .' 

It then g oes on to say that the housefather h ad 
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1 

2 

3 

4 

subsequently been dismissed for being heavy- handed . The 

February report had expressed doubt about this man .' 

So it looks , at this stage, that the inspectors have 

asked more questio~s about the window incident . 

5 A . Yes . 

6 Q . And we see that there was a police investigation as 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

1 8 

19 

20 

well . 

If we can move on , p lease , to page 34 , there ' s 

a paragraph beginning : 

' The harsh limelight beating on this school 

I think that may refer to publicity or issues that 

were being raised in Parliament in relation to this 

school . 

It says : 

' This makes dispassionate evaluation oddly 

difficult . There is a tendency to attack or defend .' 

Just pausing ttere , if a school was in the headlines 

or issues in relation to a school were to be raised in 

Parliament , would the Inspectorate take action following 

those reports? 

21 A . It would depend on the reports and it would look -- it 

22 

23 

24 

25 

would be part of tte basis of the -- I suppose the 

intelligence that we would build up about a school, and 

this may be something where , particularly if there was 

something in the media, that the link HMie inspector may 
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1 

2 

3 

contact the school in -- I suppose it ' s a re l ational 

aspect , rather than an investigatory aspect , just to 

find out some more information . 

4 Q . I t goes on in this paragraph to say that : 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

' Time will not always be on the side of 

Corsb i e Hall , but the policy of suspending final 

judgment has so far been the right one . Whatever 

happens, the Inspectorate and the sending authorities 

wi l l a l ways have to keep a close eye on the 

establishment . The major imponderable is the enigmatic 

Mr Skilled and deci sive in matters of 

material detail , he yet appears to have a basic 

immaturity . There is a slightly absurd flavour of 

14 - about the large , luxuriously equi pped 

15 room with its broad desk , its Telex and the 

16 office with the immense and gadget- ridden duplicator . 

17 At one point he said rather pathetically that he hoped 

18 to cope with children that had been rejected by other 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

establishments . A man who could hope to do this with no 

skilled staff whatsoever and long before the school had 

even basic equipment is out of touch with reality . His 

lack and inability 

long-term planning is beginning to show in staff 

tensions and indecisive pol icies . Much will depend on 

whether Mr _ , decides to remain . ' 
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1 

2 

3 

So I suppose here there are various issues raised in 

relation to the 

this school? 

arrangements in respect of 

4 A . Yes . 

5 Q . And that ' s something , as you have said , that you would 

6 be looking at . 

7 A . Yeah . 

8 Q . Presumably you ' d be extremely concerned if you thought 

9 

10 

the person - of the school was out of touch with 

reality . 

11 A . Yes . 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

Now, t his was in 1971 , and if we can go on to 

another report in this document , starting at page 4 . 

This is a report of a visit on 26 May 1972 , so the 

following year . 

If we can loo k , please , at page 7 , under ' General 

impression ' . There is a heading ' General impression ' 

down t he page : 

' Classroom organisation is chaotic . Mr Alderman 

does his best but there has been so much chopping and 

changing t hat no systematic instruction is going on . 

The only two reasonable teachers , Ms - and 

Mr Alderman, are leaving . The present staff are doing 

their best because on the whole they fee l a sense of 

responsibility for the boys . ' 

63 



1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

Then it refers to specific members of staff . 

Particularly one is unsatisfactory . The lack of lllillll 
is crippling . So it looks that , by this 

stage , Mr is no longer at this school . 

If we go down to the next paragraph, it says : 

' The HMI feel that the childcare staff , because of 

their lack of expertise , are in danger of antagonising 

the boys . There were complaints from both the teachers 

and pupils themselves that the houseparents resorted to 

mass punishments .' 

So if one misbehaved then everybody would be 

punished , and then it goes on from there . 

Now, in terms of having suitably trained childcare 

staff, is that something that the Inspectorate would 

become involved in nowadays or is that something for the 

Care Inspectorate? 

17 A. That would be for the Care Inspectorate . 

18 LADY SMITH : But say your inspectorate were inspecting alone 

19 

20 

21 

and observed that it looked as though t here was 

an insufficiency of trained childcare staff, would you 

communicate that to the Care Inspectorate or what? 

22 A . Yes, we would communicate it to the Care Inspectorate , 

23 

24 

25 

but we also -- because sometimes what you'll see is the 

childcare staff are with some pupils in the education 

element of the school as well , so we would comment it 
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through our own report through that , but we woul d a l so 

be alerting the Care Inspectorate , and that ' s where we 

alert and have regular conversations wi th the Care 

I nspectorate . So if we saw something , we may speak to 

the Care Inspectorate that day . 

6 LADY SMITH : Good . Thank you . 

7 MS INNES : Then if we go on to page 8 , please , this is still 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 
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in the same report , and there ' s material in relation to 

financial issues . If we go down to a paragraph 

beginning : 

' He g i ves the impression of a man [th is is 

Mr GUL I at the end of his tether. He simpl y 

wants to get out . His grasp of educational , financial 

and admini strative realities is alarmingly tenuous . 

' It is suggested that the Registrar of I ndependent 

Schools should write a warning letter to 

Mr Mention should be made of the 

resignation of satisfactory teaching staff and of the 

urgent need of an experienced and competent - . 

The lack of professionalism on the childcare staff 

shoul d be pointed out , along with the danger of 

a n tagonising the children by the practice of inflicting 

mass punishments . It is not suggested that a notice of 

compl aint shoul d be served immediately . If thought 

necessary , the possibility of so doing could be 
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mentioned . ' 

Do you have any comment in relation to that? The 

recommendation seems to be this isn ' t serious enough for 

a notice of complaint , to send a warning letter . 

5 A . I would say if that was today, that we would be putting 

6 

7 

8 

9 

up advice to say that potentially putting on conditions 

or potentially going -- carrying out an inspection - -

I can ' t recall from that previous letter whether this 

was an inspection or a visit . 

10 Q. It is an inspection . 

11 A . But, yes , if we found -- because we ' ve got issues with 

12 

13 

14 

governance , we ' ve got issues with care , antagonising 

children, mass punishments , so a lot of aspects in 

there . 

15 LADY SMITH : And there ' s no lllilllllllllll-
16 A. And there ' s no - . 

17 LADY SMITH : That ' s got red flags all over it , hasn ' t it? 

18 A. Yes . 

19 LADY SMITH : Thank you . 

20 MS INNES : If we can move , please , to SGV-001033715 and 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

page 13 . 

This is a memo to Mr Monro , the Secretary of State 

at the time , and this refers to , as you ' ll see , 

Corsbie Hall School and the inspection carried out on 

26 May and recommends that a letter of warning be sent 
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to the proprietor . 

If we go to the next page --

3 LADY SMITH : We ' re now at June 1972 , I see there . 

4 MS INNES : Yes . 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

At paragraph 2 , it refers to the serious concern of 

the inspectors as to the deterioration in education at 

the school , and it goes on from there . 

But if we can move , p lease , to page 15, under 

' Action ', it begins : 

' In the view of the persistent interest of Mr W 

W Hami lton in this school , if for no other reason , it is 

hardly possible to take no action now .' 

That is the local MP . 

14 A . Okay . 

15 Q . Then if we scroll down to paragraph 7 , it says the 

16 

17 

1 8 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

alternatives are to issue a notice of complaint or to 

write a warning letter . 

At paragraph 8 we see that : 

' If a notice of complaint is issued, the proprietor 

has the right to appeal it to an independent tribunal . 

I t is therefore essential that the notice itself should 

be well-founded and that the Secretary of State has 

acted reasonably.' 

I t goes on : 

' It is doubtful whether the issue of a notice of 
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compl aint against Corsbie Hall now, presumabl y on the 

grounds that it is not providing efficient and suitable 

instruction for its pupils , would satisfy these 

criteria . The instruction is certainly below standard 

in one or two classes and there is a lack of central 

direction since the resignation of but 

the real deficiencies are prospective and contingent on 

the departu re of good two teachers without adequate 

replacement . I t would be difficult to argue 

convincingly that the situation is now so bad as to 

warrant the issue of a notice of complaint .' 

So it appears to have been considered at that time 

that a notice of complaint couldn ' t be justified on the 

basis of the material , but I think your own reaction was 

it ' s so serious that you would have thought a notice of 

compl aint would have been the appropriate way forward? 

17 A . Yes . 

18 LADY SMITH : There ' s an interesting point there about the 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

imminence of the departure of two good teachers , and it 

appeared they were key , because there wasn ' t much else 

avai l able in terms of good teaching , but it l ooks as 

though they didn ' t feel they could use that as any 

strong basis for a notice of complaint . 

Would that be your approach now? 

25 A . No , where we had -- where we have either evide nce or 
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intelligence of something that ' s going to happen , then 

you can put in a notice of complaint and set conditions 

and i t can be arou~d recruitment of staff or continuity 

that you ' re looking at , because today we woul d come -­

aside from the other areas that are in here , we would 

come at i t from continuity of learning . 

7 LADY SMITH : I mean , it ' s not as if there ' s any information 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

apparently that the school have been anticipating the 

l oss of these teact ers , and they have either secured 

replacements who will take over or are in the process of 

doing so and are feeling confident that they ' re going to 

get good teachers coming in their place . There just 

seems to be a void . 

14 A. Yes . Yes . 

15 LADY SMITH : Yes . 

16 Ms Innes . 

17 MS INNES : Thank you , my Lady . 

18 

19 

20 

21 
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24 

25 

I f I can move to another document now , p lease . I t ' s 

SGV . 001 . 008 . 6837 a~d , going back in time slightly, this 

memo i s from January 1972 . 

But if we l ook at the heading , so it ' s ' Recent 

developments in independent special schools with 

reference to the registration procedure .' 

I f we go to the second paragraph beginning : 

' It may be best to start with the most recent 
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applicant .' 

The most recent applicant is Mr lillll who we have 

just seen referred to in the other document . It says : 

' His letter to the Registrar of Independent Schools 

is dated 13 December 1971 and his address at that time 

was Monken Hadley School .' 

This t he former Corsbie Hall: 

' He asks for positive reassurance regarding this 

matter of recognition and says that his proposed school 

premises are the very excellent custom-built premises of 

Woodhall College . He will start wi th 20 children from 6 

to 15 years and build up to 100 pupils .' 

Then it goes on to refer to the custom-built 

premises being a group of buildings formerly owned by 

a Catholic religious order and had been on t h e market 

for some time . It might be affected by dry rot . 

Then in the next paragraph, in (b) : 

' This person is an unqualified housefather who was 

in Corsbie Hall from t he early days . Mr 

had said that he had experience in Barnardo ' s . ' 

Which we have already seen : 

' By a series of coincidences , every time HM 

Inspector has visited , this person has had a day off . 

There is no reason to think that this is other t han 

coincidental . We are thus dependent for our knowledge 
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of him on the reports of t h ose running the branches of 

Corsbie Hall in Newton Stewart and in Thorntoun . ' 

Then it refers to various reports where he's 

described as a troublemaker and the fal l out between 

KWD-KVL and Mr Ilia, and he appears to have 

moved between the two sites in Newton Stewart and Fife . 

I f we go on over t he page , it then says , at the top 

of the page : 

' When HM Inspectors were still in t h e building 

however , the headmaster and the matron reported that 

they had just discovered that Mr lillllhad spanked a 7 

year - old boy and sent him up to his dormitory before 

supper because the child had been bedwetting .' 

You refer to that in your own report . You highlight 

this issue. 

If we scroll down to the bottom of - - yes , t he 

paragraph that we ' re seeing on the page if we go back up 

again , the very last sentence in this first paragraph 

says : 

' One senior girl from Glasgow telephoned the school 

three times in an effort to rendezvous with Mr lillll-' 
So there appears to have been a number of concerns 

about Mr 111111 at this time . 

If we move on to page 3 , the final paragraph at (d) , 

it talks about what it calls Falconwood Residential 
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School , which seems to be the school that Mr lillllll 
intends to open . It says : 

' This seems to be the shakiest of the lot and may 

indeed never open , but the disconcerting fact remains 

that Mr liilllcan go ahead and can open a school under 

existing legislation and can quite probably attract 

pupils .' 

So at this stage the author seems to be suggesting 

that this person, there are the concerns about him, he 

can just go and open a school . 

Would that happen now? 

12 A . No , it wouldn ' t happen now, and -- so you would be 

13 

14 

15 

16 

looking at the PVG scheme, Disclosure Scotland, in terms 

of registration , but also you ' d be looking at 

potentially the pre- registration visit to try to look at 

these areas as well . 

17 Q . If we can go back to SGV- 001033715 and to page 10 , and 

18 

19 
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if we scroll down a little, I think we can see that this 

is from June 1972 . 

It says here that a Mr Murray of Social Work 

Services Group has had a phone call from a Mr King of 

DHSS in London about -- and this is Mr liilll: 

' You will recollect that he was for a time 

a housefather in Corsbie Hall School , Newton Stewart and 

later at Corsbie Hall , Thornton . He also wrote to the 
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department asking about the possibility of registration 

if he opened a school for maladjusted boys at the former 

Jesuit traini ng college building in Colinton . Mr Murray 

has been informed that there was a court case involving 

Mr 111111 in 1966 and he was charged with inciting boys of 

8 to gross indecency. The DHSS are to write to him as 

it appears that he has taken up a post in England . Our 

action , if he should attempt to open an independent 

school, in Scotland should be clear . ' 

So it appears that this person had been charged with 

offences against children in 1966, which was before he 

ever came to Scotland . 

13 A . Yes . 

14 Q. Again , is that something that would be picked up now 

15 through disclosure? 

16 A. That should be picked up through disclosure . 

17 Q. This is an offence in England , and he wasn ' t convicted, 

18 but you would expect that to come to light? 

19 A. Yes . 

20 Q. Now, if we can move on from this to SGV-001033716 , and 

21 

22 
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page 4 , this refers to a visit to Menken Hadley School 

on 16 November and this is 1972 . 

If we look to the bottom of the page , we see here 

that it says : 

' Mr - said that Mr liilll and another member of 
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staff were dismissed for suspected homosexual practices. 

Scottish Education Department had been kept informed of 

this .' 

I t refers to the wife of t he other person : 

' Mr liiillllll had recruited neither of these men but 

when his suspicions had been confirmed to his own 

satisfaction, having seen one man kiss a boy while in 

the television room, and the other lying on a bed 

comforting a crying boy , he gave them two days ' notice 

to quit their quarters . That is by 19 December 1971 .' 

So it looks from this memo that 

seemed to be concerned about potential abuse of children 

by Mr 111111 back in 1971 . 

14 A . Yes . 

15 Q. But I think we saw in the other memo that t he concern 

16 

17 

from an earlier visit seemed to be about him smacking 

a boy for bed- wetting . It ' s a different issue . 

18 A. Yes . 

19 Q. Would you expect issues of this sort of severity to come 

20 to l ight at a much earlier stage? 

21 A. Yes . 

22 Q . And to be reported? 

23 A. Yes . 

24 Q. I want to turn to another document in re l ation to 

25 Monken Hadley now . So this is the site at Newton 
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Stewart and later in time . 

So it is SGV-0(1033717, and page 12 . This is 

a letter from the school to the Inspectorate , dated 

24 September 1982 , and it says : 

' It is with the greatest of regret that I have to 

inform you of the sudden death of one of our pupils . He 

was referred to us through child guidance in Forfar . 

' The child ' s death occurred shortly after he had 

begun a PE lesson at 2 . 30 pm . Because of the sudden 

nature of his deatt, the police have been involved and 

full statements have been taken from all concerned and 

these have been passed on to the Procurator Fiscal . The 

pathologist report is not available to me but his 

conclusion on the death certificate was that the child 

died of an anomalous condition of the coronary arteries . 

Everything possible was done at the time and we were 

fortunate to get a~ ambulance and doctor within a very 

few minutes of the child collapsing .' 

Then it goes o~ from there . 

If we go to the next page , please , there is 

a response from the Scottish Education Department , the 

Inspector of Schools office , dated 19 October 1982 . It 

acknowledges the letter , and then it says : 

' I do sympathise most sincerely with you in these 

sad circumstances for I realise what a traumatic effect 
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such a tragic happening can have on the l ife of the 

school . ' 

Would you expect the death of a chi ld to be reported 

directl y to the Inspectorate in the way that this was? 

5 A . So the death of a child doesn ' t need to be reported to 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

the Inspectorate , but it ' s one of the reasons why we 

have our link inspectors , so there ' s that communication , 

and in best practice, significant events , we -- it's 

best practice for the school to get in contact with the 

Inspectorate . 

11 Q . Then , aga i n , I assume that the link inspector be i ng 

12 

13 

given that information , depending on the circumstances , 

may follow that up in a particular way? 

14 A . Yes . In the -- you know, it would be enquiring what was 

15 

16 

happening now and linking with the Care Inspectorate if 

necessary as well . 

17 Q . Now, I ' m going to move on to another example of 

18 

19 
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awareness of abuse that you give us , and this is in 

relation to Harmeny . 

If we can look , please , at SGV-001033198 , and if we 

can start , please , at page 8 . This is a letter dated 

26 September 1997 to the Education Department . It ' s 

from think , if we scroll down . It says : 

'I'm writing formally to let you know of an incident 

which took place yesterday morning at Harmeny School 
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wherein a child, wto has been particularly aggressive 

since the beginning of term , lashed out at a member of 

staff and unfortunately , on this occasion , the member of 

staff retaliated. To this end, we obviously have to 

inform the authorities which include the Social Work 

Registration Inspection Department and the Social Work 

Department that t he child is resident in and they will 

go forward with t he usual procedures . I , of course , 

have had to suspend the member of staff pending 

an inquiry internally for disciplinary reasons and 

obviously externally for other reasons . I have made 

verba l contact witt Dr O ' Hagan ... ' 

Then it goes o~ . 

In the next paragraph, it says : 

' The matter will be dealt with through our usual 

internal disciplinary procedures and an investigation 

conducted by my deputy is commencing this morning . I am 

informing you beca~se of our special link with the 

Scottish Office and indeed so that people will 

understand that we deal with such matters in an open and 

straightforward way .' 

So I assume the special relationship or link is the 

grant-aided status? 

24 A . I couldn ' t say . 

25 Q. Would you expect a report like this to be made in to the 
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I nspectorate? 

A. So I would yeah , I would expect where - - you kn ow, 

what would be classed, I suppose , as a s i gni ficant 

i ncident would be -- agai n , best practi ce . I t doesn ' t 

have to be , b u t we find that in best practice schools 

would let , I s uppose , a number of different bodi es know, 

a nd sometimes they would email ourselves and the Care 

I nspectorate and others in the one email now . 

9 Q . I f we go to page 7 , there ' s a l etter from t h e department 

10 

11 

12 
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14 

to the school dated 2 October 1997 , which acknowledges 

the l e t ter and asks for an updat e i n rel a tion to the 

outcome of the investigation when it ' s conc l uded . 

Would you expect any more than that or is that what 

you would expect ? 

15 A . I think the outcome of the investigation and potentially 

16 

17 

the outcome of the work that social work were going to 

do as well . 

18 Q. Then if we move to page 3 , we see a letter dated 

19 

20 
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25 

10 October 1997 , referring to that last letter , dated 

2 October , a letter from and i t encloses 

a full copy of the findings of the disciplinary heari ng , 

a nd it says : 

' You will note from the correspondence to the member 

of staff concerned that he has been given a fina l 

warning with stringent conditions attached . I took i n to 
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account the level of stress and pressure he was under at 

the time and subsequent to my decision have made contact 

with both the local social work department , who have 

investigated the i~cident , and the mother of the child . 

In both instances they were fully supportive of the 

decision made and they both recognised the high level of 

provocation which the member of staff had been subjected 

to . 

' I hope that you feel I have dealt properly with the 

action and that it is to the satisfaction of your 

department and that the matter is hopefully closed . 

I appreciate your concern over such matters and the need 

to keep you in touch with all aspects of Harmeny which 

may influence your work with us . I thank you for your 

support over this and Harmeny ' s development and look 

forward to meeting you for a further discussion in 

relation to a building development .' 

Would you expect an institution like this to look to 

the Inspectorate for approval in relation to the way in 

which a disciplinary matter has been dealt with? 

21 A. No . 

22 LADY SMITH : There was one aspect -- and I thi n k I've got 

23 

24 

25 

the right report here -- of the disciplinary report , 

which the I nspectorate must have had, that I wondered 

about , and this matter of being under pressure and 
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stress seemed to have been attributed , at least partly, 

to staffing shortages . 

So are you telling me the inspector wouldn ' t even 

look further into that , because that could have a direct 

impact on the matters for which the Inspectorate ' s 

responsible? 

7 A . It would depend on -- so if we had access to a report at 

8 the time 

9 LADY SMITH : I think you must have had because you referred 

10 

11 

12 

13 

to this disciplinary report in your schedule , and 

Ms Innes will correct me if I ' m wrong about that . You 

very helpfully put information in a table at the end of 

your report . 

14 A . Yeah . 

15 LADY SMITH : And I ' m o~ page 9 of 255 of annex A at the 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 
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22 

mome nt , and i t ' s tte last block there . The date against 

it is 10 October 1997 , and the summary of the letter is 

the l etter that we have just seen . 

But then you provide details that include 

a reference to the disciplinary report , both there and 

on the next page . 

Do you see what I mean, Janie? 

23 A. Yes . 

24 LADY SMITH : That ' s where , on the next page , there ' s 

25 reference to p roblems with staffing shortages , increased 
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violence at the sctool , and the member of staff 

undergoing a perso~al challenge . 

3 A . Yes . I would say taving that information being brought 

4 

5 

together is something where we would then need to look 

at to see what ' s going on in the school . 

6 LADY SMITH : Looking at it at a high level , if you had , for 

7 

8 

9 

10 

example , a disciplinary report that flagged up something 

that might be a matter of concern from the point of view 

of your principal responsibilities , you ' d surely want to 

look into that , wouldn ' t you? 

11 A . Yes , because you have your staffing shortages , increased 

12 

13 

14 

v iolence , so and you are also bringing in the part 

about childcare training as well . So it would be all of 

the contributing factors . 

15 LADY SMITH : And a member of staff getting to t he level of 

16 

17 

stress that, to use a colloquialism, he seems to have 

lost the rag . 

1 8 A . Yes . 

19 LADY SMITH : Thank you . 

Ms Innes . (Pause) 20 

21 Janie , I ' m sorry about this . I ' m assured t his 

22 shouldn ' t take too long . 

23 (12 . 35 pm) 

24 (A short break) 

25 (12 . 43 pm) 
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1 LADY SMITH : Welcome back , Janie. Are you ready for us to 

2 carry on? 

3 A . Yes . 

4 LADY SMITH : Thank you . 

5 Ms Innes . 

6 MS INNES : Thank you, my Lady . 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

I f we continue looking at the same document , and if 

we go to page 2 , we see the response to that letter from 

Mr liillll from the Scottish Office , Education Department, 

and it says : 

' I am most grateful to you for your letter with the 

disciplinary findings . The contents and actions taken 

have been noted , along with the fact that you are 

continuing to liaise with HMI Dr O ' Hagan .' 

So that would be a relevant inspector? 

16 A . Yes . 

17 Q . Then , finally in relation to this person and this issue , 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

at page 1 , we see a letter from the school to the 

Scottish Office , dated 10 March 1998 , and then in the 

body of the letter it says : 

' You will reca l l t hat in October we h ad 

a disciplinary hearing and that a stringent procedure 

was put in place to monitor the staff member ' s progress 

following a final warning being given . Unfortunatel y , 

in early February two i ncidents occurred which , after 
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a hearing last week, left me in the position of having 

to decide whether to continue his employment with us or 

not . On the basis of the evidence presented, I decided 

to terminate his employment .' 

So ultimately the staff member was dismissed by 

Harmeny . 

7 A. Yes . 

8 LADY SMITH : So that ' s a move forward from dealing with it 

9 

10 

by additional trai~ing which was recorded in the report , 

I think , as a recommendation , disciplinary report . 

11 A. Yes . 

12 LADY SMITH : Thank you . 

13 MS INNES : Now, I ' m going to move on to another school and 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

some material referenced in your report , and that ' s 

Donaldson ' s . 

If I can ask , please , if you could look at 

SGV- 001033476 , at page 75 . This is a memo dated 

15 April 1987 , but if we start , please , at page 75 , it 

refers to allegations of sexual abuse having been made 

in a letter from a~ MP , and it notes that the son of 

a constituent of t tis MP alleged that he was sexually 

abused while a pupil at Donaldson ' s between 1985 and 

1986 . Then it notes that the housemaster concerned 

committed suicide at t he school in 1986, shortly after 

the allegations were put to him, and you refer to this 
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incident in your report . 

Now, if we can look down to the bottom of the page , 

there ' s reference to this person having been a bachelor 

who lived at Donal dson ' s School . He had worked there 

for 23 years . He was well regarded by the school . Many 

of the staff had known him for many years and are 

adamant that there was absolutel y no evidence t hat he 

had paedophilic te~dencies . 

' The senior ma~agement of the school take a simi l ar 

view. We are told that he was boisterous and perhaps 

rat her na i ve in the attitude he adopted to t h e c h ildren 

under h is care , although Donaldson ' s make t h e point 

quite reasonably t~at touching and physical contact are 

far more important in deal i ng wi th children who are deaf 

and who spend a good deal of their time away from home 

than would be the case with children who are not 

handicapped and who live a normal life .' 

Now, just pausing on t hat comment t here , that it 

appears to be accepted that the point made by t h e school 

i n relati on to physical contact is a reasonable point , 

that touching and physical contact woul d be more 

i mportant with children who are deaf and handicapped , as 

i t says i n this memo . 

When the Inspectorate are l ooking at the res i dential 

special schools that we have been talking about , how 
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1 would these sorts of issues be taken into account now? 

2 A . So this is where we would be looking at physical 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

intervention and ptysical restraint and the tie-in 

within that child ' s plan , around what is that -­

physical contact would be physical intervention, and 

what was appropriate for that particular -- for 

particular childre~ in place within that child ' s plan . 

8 Q . I suppose it would also connect to child protection 

9 policies? 

10 A . Yes . 

11 Q. And safeguarding? 

12 A. Yes . 

13 Q. So what ' s an appropriate touch? 

14 A. Yes . 

15 Q . If we can go on to page 76 , please , in the second 

16 

17 

1 8 

19 

20 

paragraph of t his page , it says : 

' The department ' s role is not to establish guilt or 

innocence .' 

I suppose that's t he same as you've been saying : 

that the Inspectorate ' s role is not to investigate . 

21 A . Yes . 

22 

23 

24 

25 

Q. ' Our concern is three- fold . First , to establish whether 

it is possible that other children at the school are 

being sexually abused , as the MP alleges , and if so , to 

ensure that the sctool takes proper action . Second, to 
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ensure that the care arrangements are such as to 

minimise the possibility of sexual abuse . Third , to 

establish that the managerial arrangements are such as 

to pick up any possibility of sexual abuse and ensure 

that it is properly investigated .' 

Would the role of the Inspectorate now be similar , 

in terms of looking at these issues , or not? 

8 A . So when -- we would be looking at the arrangements that 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

the school has in place for chil d protection, t he policy 

that it has in place and how well publicised that policy 

is around the school , so that children and adults know 

what to do , and then , if t here have been any child 

protection or safeguarding allegations , how they have 

been taken forward , what ' s been recorded and the 

follow- up action t tat has been taken . 

16 Q . Then if we --

17 LADY SMITH : Just before we move on , this may be obvious , 

1 8 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

but l et me articulate what I hope is the right approach : 

that it ' s not for Eer Majesty ' s Inspectorate of 

Education to say, 'Allegations of sexual abuse aren ' t 

something we take to do with , because we ' re just looking 

at education ', if a child is being abused , you h ave to 

proceed on the basis that that is likely to have 

an adverse effect on t heir ability to be educated . Am I 

right? 
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1 A . Yes . 

2 LADY SMITH : However you look at it , quite separately from 

3 the fact that you do liaise with the Care Inspectorate . 

4 A . Yes . 

5 LADY SMITH : You can ' t have one inspectorate saying , ' We 

6 

7 

don ' t have any concern with abuse ; we ' re just looking at 

education '. 

8 A. Yes . 

9 LADY SMITH : If you ' re looking at the whole chil d and the 

10 

11 

whole life of the child , you have to take account of 

allegat ions like t~is , don 't you? 

12 A . Yes , abso l utely, a~d t hat ' s why we changed our approach 

13 

14 

in our framework to include that quality indicator 

around safeguardi ng and chi ld protection . 

15 LADY SMITH : Yes . Of course , it flows from what now are 

16 

17 

your statutory duties , but didn ' t used to be ; is that 

right? 

1 8 A . Yes . 

19 LADY SMITH : Thank you . 

20 Ms Innes . 

21 MS INNES : Thank you , my Lady . 

22 

23 

24 

25 

There is a paragraph there beginning : 

' Although I ca~not offer a categori cal assurance , 

I can say with confidence that the investigations by 

Donaldson ' s have been thorough and I can also say that 
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nothing in what I tave been tol d of previous allegations 

leads me to think that there is any substance in the 

assertion that boys other than this child may have been 

sexually abused .' 

That seems to be going quite far , for an inspector 

to express that view. 

7 A . Yes . 

8 Q . Would you expect a~ inspector to go that far or not 

9 these days? 

10 A . No . 

11 Q. Then it goes on to the questions posed by the MP in 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

relation to the ma~agement and care arrangements , and it 

notes : 

' In answer to tis first question , Donaldson ' s tell 

me that it was indeed the case that the chil d a l leged 

early in 1986 that this person had sexually abused him . 

The teachers to whom these allegations were first made 

drew the matter to the attention of the headmaster who 

seems to have i nvestigated them thoroughly . No evidence 

was uncovered to corroborate the allegations , which the 

member of staff completely denied ; and since about t he 

same time the member of staff had cause to give the 

child a severe reprimand , it is just possible that the 

allegations were made vindictively. Nonethe less , the 

me mber of staff was given a severe warning by t h e 
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headteacher about the need to ensure that his behaviour 

was beyond reproact and was seen to be so . ' 

So , pausing there , it looks like there had been an 

earlier allegation , while the child was at the school , 

which was investigated and there was no evidence to 

corroborate it ; some suggestion it might have been made 

vindictivel y . Is that something the Inspectorate would 

dig into a bit more? 

9 A . We would look to see what the school had done and had 

10 

11 

they alerted the appropriate authorities, and how they 

had followed that through . 

12 Q . Then it says : 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

1 8 

19 

' With the benefit of hindsight , it might have been 

sensible for the school to tell the parents about the 

allegation and to give them a full account of t heir 

investigations but so far as I am aware , they did not do 

SO • I 

Now, I assume you would expect parents to be 

informed if there were allegations of this nature? 

20 A . Yes , in line with letting the authorities know in the 

21 first instance to safeguard the child , but, yeah . 

22 Q. Then if we go on over the page to page 77, there ' s 

23 

24 

25 

reference to changes in relation to the way in which 

records of allegations are kept . 

Then towards tte end of the first paragraph on this 
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2 

3 
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10 

11 

12 

13 

page , there is a sentence beginning : 

' We are content with this so far as it goes but we 

shall suggest one further measure to the school . That 

is that the headteacher and possibly the chairman of the 

board of governors , should from time to time review all 

recorded allegations over a lengthy period and consider 

whether there is a body of circumstantial evidence 

which , when viewed objectively, might appear to amount 

to more than consideration of individual incidents in 

isolation would suggest .' 

So the Inspectorate here is suggesting that records 

need to be kept, but t hose records need to be reviewed 

in order to establish if there ' s any patterns . 

14 A . Yes . 

15 Q . So is that somethi~g t hat the Inspectorate would still 

16 look at? 

17 A . Yes , and we ' d also be expecting the chairman of the 

1 8 

19 

board of governors to have oversight of what was taking 

place in the school as well . 

20 Q. In the next paragraph, it then talks about the care 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

arrangements , and it says : 

' For staff appointments will no longer be made only 

by the headteacher but by a panel consisting of a member 

of the board of governors , the headteacher and the 

school psychologist . The school has always made 
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enquiries about the background of candidates for 

appointment , including with the police , and they will 

conti nue to do so .' 

So the Inspectorate seems to be suggesting t hat 

staff members shouldn ' t j ust be appointed by the 

headteacher , but ttere should be a panel . Is t h a t 

something that the inspector would engage in? 

8 A . Sorry , engage in as part of the panel? 

9 Q . Engage in advising on the way in which staff should be 

10 recruited . 

11 A . So we would be looking at , predominantly in 

12 

13 

14 

15 

a pre - reg i stration, how staff had been recruited , 

whether staff have gone through PVG , what safe 

recruitment practice t hi s school has taken -- t aking 

place . But ongoing recruitment , we woul dn ' t . 

16 Q . I suppose this is also mentioning the board of governors 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

being involved , and you have mentioned that you would 

expect the board of governors to have oversight of 

particular issues . 

What sort of ttings would you be expecting them to 

be involved in and have knowledge of? 

22 A . In terms of the board of governors , we would be 

23 

24 

25 

expecting t hat they have overs i ght about how the school 

was carrying out its work . We woul d expect the board of 

governors to be trained in child protection as well , so 
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that they have a strong understanding , and that areas of 

child protection or safeguarding, physical restraint , 

that the board of governors have oversight of the work 

of the school . 

5 Q . When an inspection is being carried out , would the 

6 

7 

inspection team normally meet with t he whole board or 

members of the board? 

8 A . We would expect to meet with members of the board , 

9 

10 

either in person or it may be virtually , but we woul d 

expect to meet witt at least one member of the board . 

11 MS INNES : My Lady , I ' m going to move on to another 

12 document . 

13 LADY SMITH : I think we should stop now for the lunch break 

14 and I ' ll sit agai n at 2 o ' clock . 

15 Thank you . 

16 ( 12 . 5 9 pm) 

17 (The luncheon adjournment) 

18 (2 . 00 pm) 

19 LADY SMITH : Janie , welcome back . Are you ready for us to 

20 carry on? 

21 A . Yes , thanks . 

22 LADY SMITH : Thank you very much . 

23 Ms Innes . 

24 MS INNES : Thank you , my Lady . 

25 Now, we ' re goi~g to stay with Donaldson ' s and pick 

92 



1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

up , just as a follow- up to the issue that we were 

discussing before lunch , which was the allegations 

against the houseparent made in 1987 . 

I f we can look , please , at your summary report , 

which is at SGV-001033536 , and at page 195, we see there 

reference t o a letter dated 2 September 1987 from the 

I nspectorate to the Educati on Department , saying that at 

this point the - - sorry , it ' s a letter from the SEO to 

the I nspectorate , and the l etter states that : 

' The SEO had been provided with information from the 

Crown Agent which advised that fresh evi dence had 

emerged in relati o~ to the previous al l egation s against 

the houseparent who had committed suicide . The fresh 

evidence i ndi cat ed t hat the allegati ons were likely to 

be true .' 

I t then goes o~ : 

' The SED representative expressed concerns that 

arrangements at the school were not adequate to detect 

the possibility of unacceptable conduct from the 

houseparent and that t here was no disposition on the 

part of the principal to take the a l legation serious l y . 

I n the letter , the inspector was asked to examine the 

progress made by tte school in implementing the various 

measures previously endorsed by ministers and to report 

back to the Scottish Education Department . The 
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12 

inspector was asked to press Donaldson ' s hard to 

implement the meas~res previously agreed and continue to 

take them seriously.' 

Then the inspector was asked to report back if he 

had any concerns about the school . 

So this seems to be the follow- up , or the further 

follow- up , to the material that we l ooked at before 

lunchtime , in whict the inspector had suggested various 

issues like keeping a record of al l egations , reviewing 

the allegations and suchlike , and here it appears that 

the Inspectorate is being directed by the Educati on 

Department to fo l low t h is up . 

13 A . Yes . 

14 Q. Does this sort of thing sti ll happen? 

15 A . Not by the Education Department . We would be 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

potentially asked for advice , but the direction woul d 

come under section 66 by ministers to carry out 

the inspection or to get advice on it . We wouldn ' t 

usually have from it would be the learn ing 

directorate of Scottish Government who would ask us . We 

wouldn ' t usually have that now. 

22 Q. Okay . 

23 

24 

25 

I ' m just wondering if you might move the microphone 

down a l i ttle . I think it ' s been lifted up . I think 

that would be better . 
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1 A . That better? 

2 Q. Thank you . 

3 

4 
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19 
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25 

Okay, and from this note it says that , from records 

reviewed, there is no further information to indicate 

what action was taken after this . There was obviously 

a direction to review matters , but we don ' t have any 

more documentation in relation to it . 

I ' m going to ask you to look on in this summary to 

page 199 this is ten years later, in July 1997 -- to 

a minute of discussion written by an inspector and sent 

to other inspectors , and this detailed d iscussions 

between the i nspector and two child protection officers 

from local authorities , who had delivered training for 

staff at the school . 

' The HM Inspector reported that the headteacher was 

hostile to the training and was attempting to discredit 

it . The minute also detailed alleged abuse in the 

schoo l , including the rape of a female pupil by the 

headteacher and pupils being kicked i n the corridors by 

staff . Social work staff were intending to undertake 

a welfare of residential provision inspection at 

Donaldson ' s . ' 

So just pausing there , that seems to have been what 

the local authority would have done prior to the Care 

Commission being i~ place . 
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1 A . Yes , it appears to be . 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 
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10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

Q. ' They had experienced great difficulties in getting in . 

The school had not responded to phone calls or 

documentation regarding social work inspection . 

Eventually a meeti~g was held between the social work 

inspection unit and the school . The social work 

inspection unit described the headteacher as being 

extremely resistant to the notion of unit staff 

conducting an inspection of provision . The min u te 

concluded that this is certainly a fraught area of 

evidence because of the circumstantial evidence rather 

than hard evidence .' 

I ' m assuming t~at ' s circumstantial evidence in 

relation to allegations? 

15 A . Yes . 

16 

17 

1 8 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

Q . ' However , when so many agencies involved with t he school 

are independently expressing concerns , there must be 

a cause for the Education Department ' s interest .' 

Then it says : 

' I know from recent [it carries on over the page] 

special educational needs panel discussions that we 

intend to place Do~aldson ' s School on our inspection 

programme . It appears to me that the sooner this is 

done t he better , just in case we find ourselves in the 

middle of a rather messy affair . ' 
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So that seems to include some quite serious concerns 

being raised by one of the inspectors , and the 

suggestion is that an inspection take place . 

4 A . Yes . 

5 Q . Now, if we look down at the bottom of this page , the 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

final entry is 27 April 1998 , which says that the school 

was inspected in April 1998 . So it appears to have 

taken between July 1997 and April 1998 for the 

inspection to take place . 

Is that the sort of length of time you would expect, 

given the issues ttat were raised? 

12 A. No , and certainly ~ot today . Sort of -- currently , that 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

1 8 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

wouldn ' t -- we would -- where we had significant 

concerns , we would go in much much quicker and we 

would dec i de -- there would be t hree aspects that we 

would dec i de : we would deci de whether it goes on to the 

inspection programme and the school receives 

two- and- a - half weeks ' notice of an inspection ; we would 

decide whether we go in much sooner with a short-notice 

inspection, so we would give a couple of days' 

notificat ion ; or if we felt that the school may not be 

forthcoming or try to hide things from us, we would go 

in unannounced and we would turn up at the school with 

a letter to the sctool. And that ' s the , sort of , three 

avenues that we would do . 
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1 Q . How common is it for t he Inspectorate to do 

2 an unannounced inspection? 

3 A. So it ' s not common . It ' s not common and , as I say, we 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

would only undertake an unannounced if we felt that we 

may not get an acc~rate p icture of the school . We have 

done one recently, in the past year , and we ' ve also 

done -- carried out a short- notice inspection in the 

past year as well . So it depends on the , I suppose , 

severity and the l evel of risk . 

LADY SMITH : Janie , forgive me if I ' ve asked you this on 

a previous occasior., but what is the downs ide of doing 

an unannounced inspection? 

13 A. The downside? 

14 LADY SMITH : From the inspector ' s point of view. 

15 A . So the downside from an inspector ' s point of view can be 

16 

17 

1 8 

19 

20 

21 

22 

around gathering t te views of children, parents . But 

what we can do now, that we haven ' t in previous years , 

is the system that we have set up for our pre- inspection 

questionnaires , we can get those out on the day that we 

arrive and actually get them analysed before we leave . 

But also , in ar. unannounced , we can potentially stay 

on as long as we need to stay on . 

23 LADY SMITH : Of course , and I suppose that as compared to 

24 

25 

unannounced, t he school won ' t have had to get its 

paperwork together for you , all the up-to-date 
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information, the data that you ' ll want from any school 

for inspection purposes , so that's not going to be ready 

for you to do your advanced homework and for it to be in 

place as you go forward with the inspection . Have I got 

that right? 

6 A . That ' s correct . Yes . 

7 LADY SMITH : But there may be times when you need just to go 

8 in . 

9 A . There may be times where , if we feel that there is 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

a risk to children and young people , that we need to go 

in almost immediately, and these are inspections that we 

would provide advice to Scottish Ministers , we would set 

out what our concerns are , and we would set out -- and 

therefore we will carry out either an unannounced or 

a short notice , and that ' s the ones where ministers 

would then direct ~s to carry out it underneath 

section 66 of the Act . 

18 LADY SMITH : Thank you . 

19 MS INNES : Is there any consideration being given to 

20 

21 

22 

changing the approach that you take to short-notice or 

unannounced inspections in the ongoing review that 

you're having? 

23 A . So an ongoing review -- so the views that we ' re 

24 

25 

gathering just now are quite mixed . There are, you 

know, practitioners and headteachers who are saying , 
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' Look , just turn up , just turn up and just see the 

school as it is '. So we ' ll see where that goes to . 

3 Q . Now, looking at the entry that we just saw at the bottom 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

of page 200 , we see the school was inspected in 

April 1998 , and t h e n it goes on : 

' During the in~pection , a pupil made an allegation 

that she was assaulted by the headteacher t he previous 

day and showed the HM Inspector bruising . ' 

This was then reported to social work services and 

the police : 

' The pupil was interviewed at home . During the 

inspection, another allegation of a sexual nature was 

made to HM Inspectors about two members of staff . These 

were reported to social work services .' 

There ' s then more detailed notes referred to in the 

next entry , which say that : 

' The notes detailed discussions with pupils during 

the inspection and allegations made by them about staff . 

Allegations included staff entering shower and dressing 

areas and looking at them, physical assault by the 

headteacher and one allegation of sexual abuse by 

a member of staff . ' 

All of these reports were made directly to the 

inspector ; is that right? 

25 A. Yes . 
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1 Q . Then we have seen that there was onward reporting to 

2 

3 

other authorities , which I think is probably more like 

what you would expect to see today . 

4 A. Yes . 

5 Q . Then we see the HM Inspector noted that the one very 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

positi ve thing to ari se from the inspection was the 

review of childcare and child protection procedures : 

' This should i~clude a clear complaints procedure 

for pupils and staff and a comprehensive persona l safety 

programme being put in place to ensure all children and 

young people acquire the skills , knowledge and 

understanding to keep themselves safe in the school and 

wider community . These were identified as key issues 

which were to be clearly flagged in the published report 

and which required urgent attention . The Scottish 

Secretary wrote to the Secretary of State to inform him 

about the allegations .' 

I t goes on , on the next page , and it notes t hat the 

headteacher was suspended o n 29 April 1998 . So I think 

that seems to have been a reaction to the allegations 

made to the inspector during the inspection . 

22 A. Yes , appears to be . 

23 Q. Now, staying with Donaldson ' s , we know that the 

24 

25 

I nspectorate had a significant invol vement with 

Donaldson ' s at a later period, betwee n 2013 a nd 2014 , 
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13 
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15 

16 

and Education Scotland have previously provided a report 

in relation to its involvement with Donaldson ' s School , 

and this is to be found at SGV-000086464 . 

This report is dated 9 November 2022 , and if we look 

on page 2 , at the top of the page , it notes that this 

case study was prepared in relation to a request from 

the Scottish Goverrment response unit to provide 

a document setting out the chronology of the 

I nspectorate ' s involvement with Donaldson ' s School from 

1993 to 2014 based on the files available , and 

a document with the overarching narrative of the 

I nspectorate ' s involvement with Donaldson's School , 

including key messages and issues to highlight . 

My understandirg is that this was prepared as part 

of work that was urdertaken by Professor Levitt . Is 

that right? 

17 A . Yes . 

1 8 Q. Now, if we can look, please , just at the bottom of 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

page 2 , we see that between 2013 and 2014 , the 

Inspectorate had a significant level of engagement with 

the school , with irspections in May 2013 , May 2014 and 

November 2014 . 

So before we look at any other matters , is it 

unusual to have three inspections within the course of 

a year and a half? 
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1 A . Yes . 

2 Q. If we go on , please , to page 3 , we see that , in 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

May 2013 , there wa~ a routine joint inspection or 

integrated inspection of t he school and nursery together 

with t he Care Inspectorate, and it says this was 

scheduled for publication in August 2013 and initially 

it was a positive inspection; is that right? 

8 A . Yes . 

9 Q . Then it goes on to say that , in June 2013 , 

10 

11 

12 

13 

a confidential draft of the report was sent to the 

school for comment in June 20 13 . So for each 

inspection , before it ' s finalised and published, would 

it be sent to the ~chool? 

14 A . Yes . 

15 Q . What ' s the purpose of providing the school with a draft? 

16 A . So the purpose is to provide the school with the 

17 

1 8 

19 

20 

21 

22 

opportunity to comment on our findings and carry out 

a factual accuracy check, and also gives the school the 

opportunity if they want to submit any evidence , and 

then the inspectio~ team will look at any comments that 

are provided back and then they will determine whether 

any changes are made to the report or not . 

23 Q. Do schools regularly challenge gradings that are 

24 awarded, as i t were? 

25 A . I wouldn ' t say they regularly challenge gradings . They 
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do challenge gradi~gs , but they also provide comments on 

phraseology in the reports as well . 

3 Q . It notes that , as a result of significant events at the 

4 

5 

6 

time , including the suspension of the school principal 

and headteacher , tte Inspectorate decided to postpone 

the report ' s publication . 

7 A . Yes . 

8 Q . Would that be a normal approach? 

9 A . No , that ' s not a normal approach . 

10 Q. What would normally happen? 

11 A . So normally what would happen is we would complete and 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

publish the report in around in ten weeks , after 

we ' ve carried out the fieldwork element of the 

inspection . If the school provides additional evidence , 

then it may go beyond the ten weeks , or if there ' s 

a dispute about gradings , it may go beyond the ten 

weeks . 

1 8 Q. And if , as you have here, the suspension of the 

19 

20 

principal and headteacher before you publish the report , 

would the publication be postponed or not? 

21 A . No , not ordinarily , no . 

22 Q. Then it says t hat the Inspectorate continued inspection 

23 

24 

25 

activity along witt a range of support to the school, 

and the i nspection report was published ultimately in 

December 2013 . 
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In the next paragraph, you say that with the 

exception of improvements through self-evaluation in the 

school , which moved from satisfactory to weak , the 

quality indicator gradings in the published report 

remained those as tad been in the draft , so there ' s only 

that one change . 

7 A . Yes . 

8 Q . And you note there that the decision to continue the 

9 

10 

engagement of inspectors over that l ength of time was 

unusual . 

11 A . Yes . 

12 Q . Can I ask you , p l ease , to look at page 15 of this 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

1 8 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

report , please . Ttere ' s an entry there : 

' Events following the publicati on of the report on 

the integrated inspection that began in May 2013 .' 

We can see that the date there is 16 December 2013 , 

which I think must have been when the report was maybe 

published, or by ttat time the report had been 

published, rather , and it says : 

' HM Inspector Assistant Director visited the school 

for separate meetirgs with the Educational I nstitute of 

Scotland representative with the acti ng headteacher a nd 

the acting deputy teadteacher and with the interim 

principal . 

' Discuss ion with EIS and acting headteacher and 
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acting deputy headteacher focused on issues around the 

use of a sign lang~age interpreter and relationships 

between staff and the inspection team . Assurances were 

given that the inspection team for the scheduled further 

inspection would be fully aware of the issues and would 

take account of feedback from the school .' 

Do you know anything further about this meeting? 

8 A . I don ' t know anything further about this meeting , but 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

where we have meetings where we ' ve got -- so the EIS, 

a teacher trade union in there , when that would usually 

occur is where relationships between the staff and the 

inspection team have broken down , and t here have been 

potential complaints about the inspection team, either 

the way they ' ve carried out their duties or not , and we 

would either go out and visit the school to hear the 

staff concerns , and, in this case , perhaps the EIS have 

gone because the staff potentially have complained to 

their trade union representative . 

19 Q. So if we hear evidence later in this case study that 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

staff felt that their concerns had not been heard by the 

I nspectorate back at t he time they were doing t he 

May 2013 report, t~en that mi ght be consistent with 

having a meeting with the union at a later stage , would 

it? 

25 A . Yes , potentially. 
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1 Q. I t seems to suggest some kind of unhappiness --

2 A . Yeah . 

3 Q. -- amongst the staff , as you say, about the relationship 

4 between them and tte inspectors? 

5 A. Yes . 

6 Q . Okay . 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

Now, if we can move back to the body of this report 

again and to page 3, we can then see , just going back to 

where we were reading , there is a paragraph beginning : 

' Following the publication of the inspection report 

in December 2013 , liM Inspectors engaged with the school 

over a sustained period . ' 

Then there was the inspection in May 2014 , and then 

in November 2014 i~ response to concerns . 

If we look dow~ to the next paragraph, it says : 

'The further i~tegrated inspection carried out by 

HM Inspectors and the Care Inspectorate in November 2014 

was not schedul ed in advance . Rather , it was arranged 

at short notice in response to concerns raised with 

HM Inspectors , Scottish Government policy officials and 

the Care Inspectorate by the newly appointed school 

principal . The sctool principal's concern s were 

connected with allegations of phys i cal and sexual 

assaul t and a cul ture of bullying . HM I nspectors ' 

decision to carry out this inspection was taken in 
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consul tation with Scottish Government pol icy officia l s 

and the Care Inspectorate .' 

So here , by November 2014 , there ' s a new pri ncipal , 

and it appears that she has rai sed concerns which give 

rise to the inspection; is that rig ht? 

6 A. Yes . 

7 Q . Then you go on to tel l us that , during t hat i nspection, 

8 

9 

10 

11 

a number of incide~ts and allegations were disclosed to 

the inspectors , and there was then a reference made to 

Scottish Ministers in accordance with the Inspectorate ' s 

dut ies under section 66 of the 1980 Act ; is that right? 

12 A. Yes . 

13 Q. I think there was a recommendation that a preliminary 

14 notice be served; is t hat right? 

15 A. Yes . 

16 Q. Now, if we can look, please , at that prelimi nary notice , 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

if we look at DSD- C000000l0 , and if we can look , please , 

at page 3 . 

We see Education Scotland ' s reference to the 

Scotti sh Mini sters under section 66B of the 1980 Act , 

and i t says that t t ere was an inspection in 

November 2014 following information from the principal , 

who had been in the post for three weeks . 

Then i f we look down to the bottom of t h e page , 

u nder ' Summary of findings ', it says : 
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12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

' Current child protection procedures are not 

effective in ensuring the safety of children and young 

people . 

' The behaviour of some children and young people is 

resulting in a higt number of assaults of a physical , 

verbal and sexual nature . 

' Current behaviour management plans , deployment of 

staff and levels of supervision are not effective in 

ensuring t hat children are safe from harm from other 

children in the sctool . 

' Staff do not tave a consistent understanding of the 

roles and responsibilities in keeping children safe in 

the context of pupil on pupil violence. ' 

Then going on over the page , it refers to a culture 

of bullying and intimidation . The next bullet point is 

high staff turnover levels . The next bullet point is 

about senior management not carrying out their roles 

effectively . The ~ext bullet point is the board of 

governors do not provide adequate support and 

governance . Then there are a couple of other issues, 

with t he final bullet point being t here are a number of 

outstanding incide~ts and complaints which have not been 

investigated . 

If these sorts of issues came to light in 

an inspection, is the process that we see here with 
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1 

2 

a reference to Scotti s h Ministers what you would expect 

to happen? 

3 A . Yes . 

4 Q . Then we know that a preliminary notice was served . I f 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

we go to page 1 , I think we see the preliminary notice 

there , and it sets out , if we scroll down the page , 

various issues where t here are fai l ures , and it notes in 

the paragraph begi~ning : 

'The areas for improvement were highligh ted by 

inspectors in May 2014 .' 

The school have been given sufficient opportunity to 

secure improvements and , essential l y , t hey haven ' t , and 

therefore an enforcement notice is justified . 

Again , is that the approach that you would expect in 

this case? If we contrast it with what we looked at 

earlier , where there was a warning that was sent to the 

principal ; here we have a different type of action being 

taken? 

19 A. Yes . 

20 Q. So thi s i s what yoL would expect . 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

Then , I think , if we go back to your report again in 

relation to this at SGV-000086464 , on page 4 , and the 

paragraph beginni ng : 

' At the time t t e preliminary notice was served 

HM Inspectors were unable to provide assurances to 
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Scottish Ministers about the safety of pupils . Scottish 

Ministers requested HM Inspectors remained at the school 

and they remained at the school from 14 November until 

the end of term in December 2014 to monitor safety and 

support staff . ' 

Is that something that you ' re aware of ever 

happening elsewhere? 

8 A . No . 

9 Q . No? 

10 A . No . I ' m aware of occasions where HM Inspectors will 

11 

12 

13 

14 

remain in a school , so an example would be where 

a school closed and, to ensure transition arrangements , 

inspectors may stay on in the school , but not to this 

degree or for this reason . 

15 Q . Then in the next paragraph, it says : 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

' Initially Scottish Government suggested that 

an inspector might act as interim headteacher at the 

time .' 

Is that something that you ' ve ever come across in 

any other context? 

21 A . No . 

22 Q. Then, ultimately it says : 

23 

24 

25 

' Scottish Government officials subsequently asked 

HM Inspectors to identify a suitably experienced 

individual . ' 
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So it looks as though they didn ' t appoint 

an inspector from the Inspectorate , but the inspector 

was i nvolved in the appointment of somebody? 

4 A. I think they woul d -- from my recollection , the 

5 

6 

7 

inspectors were asked , you know, were they aware of 

people who had experi ence in this sector who cou ld act 

as headteacher in a school . 

8 Q. Then you go on in your report , and we ' ve heard evidence 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

previously , t hat fol l owing the prel iminary notice, t here 

were a number of action p lans , there was follow-up , and 

ultimately , i f we go on to page 7 of this report , we 

see , in the second- last paragraph there , that Scottish 

Ministers informed the school in February 2018 that all 

of the requirement~ i n the preliminary notice had been 

satisfied . 

So that was the period of t ime that the preliminary 

notice had been in place? 

1 8 A. Yes . 

19 Q. Again , have you seen a preliminary notice served that 

20 has taken that sort of length of time to resolve? 

21 A. No , I haven ' t . 

22 LADY SMITH : So j ust to capture it in the transcript at this 

23 

24 

stage , that i s a preliminary notice that was originally 

served in 

25 MS INNES : December 2014 . 
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1 LADY SMITH : Yes , 22 December 2014 . 

2 MS INNES : Right , I ' d like to move away from Donaldson ' s 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

now, please , and look at another institution and 

information that you referred to in your main report , 

but we ' ll look at the source documents . 

This is in relation to the Royal Blind School , and 

if we could look , please , at SGV- 001033168 , we see that 

this is a letter from, I think , a grandparent to the 

Inspectorate dated 29 January 2006 , and this person 

says : 

' I wish to make a formal complaint to the 

Inspectorate and bring to your attention my concerns 

over the treatment of my grandson and incidents at the 

Royal Blind School where he is a pupil .' 

It goes on : 

' On 20 January 2006 , an alleged incident of a sexual 

nature involving [the grandchild] and another pupil 

occurred at the sctool . The [grandchild] was the victim 

during this assault and the incident was [she was told] 

interrupted by an adult member of staff . I was informed 

by the school but it was left to me to contact t he 

police and through them the family protection unit who 

is now investigating and has visited and interviewed 

[the child] at home .' 

So just pausing there , on this occasion, there ' s 
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an incident of a sexual nature which has been observed 

by a member of staff and that ' s reported to the 

grandparent, and tten it ' s for the grandparent to 

contact the police . 

Is that the approach that you would expect or not? 

6 A . No , it ' s not the approach . I would expect the member of 

7 

8 

staff to follow the child protection procedures in the 

school and make co~tact with the authorities . 

9 Q . Then t he grandpare~t goes on to say : 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

1 8 

19 

' Since 2003 , wten two pupils joined the school , 

there have been otter incidents of a sexual and/or 

bullying nature i nvol ving my grandchild , one where he 

was left with bruising on his neck . My understanding is 

that the family protection unit was not contacted and my 

feeling is that the school did not take these incidents 

seriously or investigate fully . It is not clear what 

action the child protection co- ordinator took . ' 

From what you are saying, you would expect the child 

protection co-ordi~ator at t he school to be involved? 

20 A . Yes . 

21 Q . ' I have not been given or afforded the opportunity to 

22 

23 

24 

25 

see any of my grandchild ' s records relating to these 

incidents and feel there is a fundamental lack of 

communication , bott within the school and towards 

parents and guardians . When Mr MacQuar rie the 
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headteacher visited me last week to allay my fears, he 

admitted that he had not been informed or knew what was 

already on the file regarding these previous incidents .' 

Would you expect t he headteacher to be informed of 

an incident of this nature? 

6 A . Yes . 

7 Q . Then if we go on to page 3 , she says that she wants the 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

Inspectorate to investigate these matters : 

' . .. and help me in resolving them so t hat my 

grandchild can return to the school and rebuild his 

confidence and trus t as quickly as possible .' 

You have already told us that t he Inspectorate 

wouldn ' t investigate themselves in relation to such 

matters ; is that right? 

15 A . That ' s correct . 

16 Q . Here , if we can move on , please , to SGV- 001033548 , we 

17 

1 8 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

can see a note of contact with the Royal Blind School , 

and there ' s a heading, ' Action taken by HMie '. It says 

two days after receiving the letter , LW, who I think is 

a member of the inspection staff , contacted the 

principal , To ny McQuarrie, to clarify t he nature of 

complaint and action taken by the school , and you have 

been saying i n your evidence already that this is the 

sort of thing that a link inspector would do . 

25 A . Yes . 
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1 Q . The first thing would be to contact the headteacher , 

2 

3 

would it? 

A. Yes -- depend yes . 

4 Q . Then it ' s noted : 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

' Mr McQuarrie was himself critical of the slow 

action taken by the school . This included his Head of 

Care delaying until 4 . 00 pm in responding to the report 

by a teacher at 12 noon on Friday 27 January 2006 . 

' The Head of Care had tried contact the chil d ' s 

social worker but ~he had left for the day. ' 

It wasn ' t reported to the on-call social worker , 

which meant that ttere was no social work action until 

7 March . 

Then if we look down a bit , there ' s a paragraph 

beginning : 

'The principal admitted that CP [I assume "child 

protection" ) procedures had not been effectively carried 

out . There were i~ place plans for chil d protection 

training the following week (as part of the school ' s 

response to the recent inspection recommendations) .' 

So that seems to be separate from this particular 

incident . 

23 A . Yes . 

24 Q . Would an inspector ask about child protection procedures 

25 and training , if faced with this type of incident? 
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1 A . Sorry , can you repeat? 

2 Q . When it comes to light that there is an allegation like 

3 

4 

this , would the inspector ask questions abou t chi ld 

protection procedures, policies and training , or not? 

5 A. The inspector may ask to just to get a sense of what was 

6 taking place in the school . 

7 Q . Then it ' s said that the author of this told Mr McQuarrie 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

that his senior maragers needed urgently to review the 

action taken in respect of this case so that procedures 

were significantly improved . 

Then the next entry is a contact to , I think , 

a person who works at the Care Commission , and it ' s 

noted that she and her colleague planned to visit the 

school on an unannounced inspection in February and 

planned to follow through the incident . 

So here , there is information is being passed 

from the Inspectorate to the Care Commission , and again , 

is that what would happen? 

19 A. Yes . 

20 Q . Then it was said ttat -- I think LW and SM are the 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

person from HMie ard the person from the Care 

Commission , were to visit the school around Easter to 

talk through child protection training and the review of 

procedures fol l owirg this case . 

So do inspectors go to a school and follow up in 
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1 this way, have a specific meeting? 

2 A . So there are occasions where inspectors , if there are 

3 

4 

5 

6 

elements around training or policies or how policies 

a lign with -- how schoo l policies align with national 

policy, the inspectors may go out and talk a school 

through what is miss i ng , what isn ' t missing . 

7 Q . If we go on , p lease , to CIS - 000010694 , we see that t hi s 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

was created on 26 May 2006 , and refers to a meeting at 

the Royal Blind Sctool in relation to a chil d protection 

complaint . 

Then if we go down to the text , it says : 

' The meeting was held at the Royal Blind School to 

give them an opportunity for them to update me and Lorna 

Walker from HMie about the steps they have taken 

regarding child protection procedures .' 

So this is a note from the Care Inspectorate , but it 

seems to involve tte Education Inspectorate as well . 

18 A . Yeah . So there are times when , if we ' ve carried out 

19 

20 

activity together and an inspection together , we may 

then carry out joi~t visits together as well . 

21 Q. Now, I ' m going to move on again to someth ing else , and 

22 

23 

24 

25 

this is the issue of corporal punishment , and you refer 

to thi s in your report . But one of the things that you 

drew attention to was guidance specific to c h ildren in 

some of the establishments that we are looking at , and 
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18 
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I wonder , please , if we can look at SGV- 001033774 . If 

we can look , please , at page 10 . 

Now, this begi~s it seems to be an internal note . 

It ' s not dated , but it does refer to Corsbie Hall in 

Fife , which we know was only open in the early 1970s , so 

it must have been from around that time . 

I t says at poi~t 1 : 

' There are only two independent residential special 

schools which use corporal punishment . These are 

Corsbie Hall in Fife and Menken Hadley School in 

Newton Stewart . Both schools keep registers of 

punishment and bott use the tawse . The cane is never 

used . ' 

Then in the next paragraph, it says : 

' Both schools take low ability children, some of 

whom have been before children's hearings and have 

behaviour problems . Not all could be described as 

handicapped children as this term is used in special 

schools . Unfavourable home environments and behaviour 

problems in the day school are among the reasons which 

might lead an education authority to place a child in 

one of these schools .' 

Now, if you were looking at a residential special 

school today, I assume that you wouldn ' t categorise the 

children in this sort of way? 
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1 A . No , you wouldn ' t . 

2 Q. If we look down to point 4, it says : 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

1 8 

19 

20 

' On 29 February 1968 , memorandum 3/68 was issued by 

the Scottish Education Department and it drew t he 

attention of education authorities and other school 

managers to a statement of principles and code of 

practice on the elimination of corporal punishment in 

schools which had been produced by the Liaison Committee 

on educational matters .' 

This is a code of practice that the Inquiry is aware 

of . 

This document then goes on to say : 

' The statement of principles contained the following 

in paragraph 4 . Corporal punishment should not be 

inflicted on a pupil suffering from any kind of 

handicap; physical , mental or (when it is manifestly 

persistent and serious) emotional .' 

So this seems to be a specific principle in relation 

to certain childre~ and the fact that corporal 

punishment should ~ot be inflicted on them . 

21 A . Yes . 

22 Q. Then it goes on to say that : 

23 

24 

25 

' This statement of principles is reflected in the 

conduct of special schools in Scotland . In the case of 

the two independent schools referred to there is , in 
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6 

7 

addition , as pointed out above , a category of child who 

is not handicapped but of a similar category to those 

who would be placed i n List D schools .' 

So the memo seems to distinguish between chi l dren 

who are placed in these settings because of , for 

example , a physical disability and t hose who are there 

because , perhaps , of behavioural issues . 

8 A . Yes . 

9 Q . But that distinction wouldn ' t apply today? 

10 A . No . 

11 Q. Just for completeness , we can see that this memorandum 

12 

13 

14 

was issued in 1968 . So from 1968 , the expectation 

seemed to be that corporal punishment wouldn ' t be 

infl icted on certain c hi ldren with disabil ities . 

15 A . That ' s correct , yes . 

16 Q . Now, going back in this document , please , to page 4 , and 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

this is a matter highlighted in your report . 

The f i rst entry is to HMI Mr Petrie and it asks for 

his comments on the allegations made in a letter that 

corporal punishment was being used at Donaldson ' s . This 

was i n 1976 , so some time after this memorandum . 

22 A . Yes . 

23 Q. He goes on at the bottom of the page to say that he 

24 

25 

phoned the principal of the school this morning . 

' The situation is as follows . No girls are belted 
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25 

in Donaldson ' s . No small boys , ie boys be l ow 12 years 

or so , are belted . ' 

Then i f we go on to the next page : 

' Senior boys are sometimes belted either by the 

headteacher himself or by his deputy . The headteacher 

i s fa i rly certain that no other member of t h e staff has 

used t he strap in t is term of office wi t h t h e possib l e 

exception of Mr Rae , the new principal teacher in the 

secondary departme~t . No record of corporal punishment 

is kept . 

' The situation overall is rather d i sappoi nting . 

I have had a lengtt y discussion with the headteacher on 

a variety of topics but it had not occurred to me to 

raise the question of corporal puni shment . 

' What I said t t is morning was : if t h e use of 

corporal puni s hment was to continue , a register of such 

punishments must be kept . This should start at once .' 

Then going on on t h e page , at 2 : 

' It was generally felt in SED that corporal 

punishment should be discontinued in special schools . 

And 3 : ' It would be advisable to discuss t h e whole 

matter with senior members of staff prior to a general 

staff discussion .' 

I thi nk , u l timately , t h e incident t hat was 

complained of had tappened some years prior , but 

122 



1 
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focusing on what tte headteacher has told the inspector, 

he said that corporal punishment is still being 

undertaken , which ~eems to conflict with the memorandum 

and expectation issued in 1968 . 

5 A . Yes , it does . 

6 Q . Do you have any comment on what the inspector suggests 

7 

8 

here ; that , you know, if it ' s going to carry on , then 

a register of it stould be kept? 

9 A . I would have expected the inspector to be aware of the 

10 

11 

memo and that actually to flag up it should not be 

happening . 

12 Q . Okay . 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

Now, I ' m going to take you back to your main report 

at SGV-001033534 a~d page 33 . 

You talk there about hospital schools , and you say 

that there was a lack of clarity as to the role of 

HM Inspectors in i~spections in these settings . 

Are you able to explain that a bit further? What 

was the issue? 

20 A . So the issue was ttat , in hospital settings , they were 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

seen primarily for healthcare , rather than for 

education, and they were not classed as schools , but 

they did include school-age children, and because they 

weren ' t classed as schools , then the role of the 

Inspectorate was blurred in terms of inspection of 
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1 education . 

2 Q. We have already heard evidence in relation to RSNH , 

3 

4 

5 

I think, that the physician superintendent was actively 

requesting inspections to take place , as opposed to the 

Inspectorate going out and inspecting the school . 

6 A . Yes . 

7 Q . I s t hat because of this confusion as to whether the 

8 Inspectorate had a role? 

9 A . That I ' m not sure of , but I know there was confusion 

10 about the role . 

11 Q. Okay . 

12 LADY SMITH : Have you any idea why the I nspectorate didn ' t 

13 

14 

15 

ask itself the obvious follow-up question , namely : well , 

are children in ho~pi tals being educated at all? And , 

if so , who ' s inspecting it? 

16 A. Yes , I don ' t know why they didn ' t ask t hat question . 

17 

1 8 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

But and it ' s still an area because children who --

and young peopl e -- are registered with -- just now with 

a mainstream school , it ' s a local authority 

responsib i lity to provide education wherever it happens . 

And so there is still the area predominantly if 

schools are registered as a school , that that would 

automatically fall to us to inspect . 

24 LADY SMITH : I can see it might get complicated if t h e c h ild 

25 who is at a registered residential school is 
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hospitalised somewtere far away from the place of 

residence when in the school , but the school , through 

having it delegated to it from the local authority, is 

still responsible for seeing to it that the child is 

educated . 

6 A . Yes . 

7 LADY SMITH : Ms Innes . 

8 MS INNES : Thank you , my Lady . 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 
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18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

Just in connection with hospital inspections , we 

have looked at material with other witnesses , but I want 

to take you to one document . It's SGV-001033312 , and 

page 11 . This is in relation to Lennox Castle . 

This document is dated 22 December 1975 and it 

begins : 

' HMI Mr Dell a~d I attended a meeting with Mr Hill , 

education officer with responsibility for special 

education in the Dunbartonshire division , on 18 December 

at which we discussed the education authority ' s 

involvement in Len~ox Castle . Due to a series of 

misunderstandings and non-action on the part of the 

division , no educational presence has been provided by 

the division in Le~nox Castle during the seven months 

for which they have had responsibility for the education 

of children in the hospital . It is easy to apportion 

blame in this situation but the important thing to 
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2 

3 

4 

5 

report is that from 5 January 1976, two teachers and one 

woman attendant will be in post at the hospital . ' 

It talks about the experience that they have . 

So this seems to be an issue in relation to 

a complete lack of provision over a period of months? 

6 A. Yes, that ' s correct . 

7 Q . I suppose , judging by the time , this would have been 

8 

9 

around about the time of regionalisation , so a different 

entity taking responsibility, perhaps --

10 A . Yes . 

11 Q. for education ir. the hospital . 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

1 8 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

Now, I ' m going to look at another institution, 

Lendrick Muir , and an issue again highlighted in the 

material that you tave provided to the Inquiry . This is 

at SGV- 000133721 , and at page 7 . 

This refers to a visit to Lendrick Muir by a person 

during an election campaign , so that 's the local MP , 

I think, during an election campaign . 

Just bear with me a moment , I ' ll get the date of 

this document . This is 13 July 1979 . 

If we look dowr. to point 4 , it says : 

' Lendrick Muir had not been inspected since I became 

responsible for special services in 1975 . It may have 

been vis i ted and I suspect it was , by our former 

colleague, Mr Petrie (who is by the way presently 
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2 
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8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

a member of the advisory committee) in 1975 before he 

retired . There is no record of such a visit or of any 

earlier visits or inspections in the school file for the 

period before 1975 .' 

So I suppose you said earlier in your evidence that 

you find it diffic~lt to trace documents, and here we 

are in 1979 being unable to find documents for pre - 1975 

at that point . 

Then if we go on , please , to page 8 , and towards the 

bottom part of the page , there are various issues raised 

in subparagraphs . There is a management problem. 

There ' s issues about t he balance , quality and roles of 

the staff . There ' s issues in relation to inadequacy of 

resources . There ' s issues about partnership with local 

authority and community agencies . There ' s reference to 

a problem with difficult girls . 

Then going on to page 9 , it says there that after 

consultation, a team of four inspectors will go into the 

school , and it talks about who the team will be and 

there will be specialist colleagues . 

So , again , we see that the reaction of the 

Inspectorate seems to be to carry out an inspection . 

Would you usually have teams of four inspectors for 

an inspection? 

25 A . Yes , we may have . Our teams just vary depending on the 
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2 

3 

4 
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6 

situation. If it was part of a programme, we would have 

one or two inspectors and some associate assessors , 

depending on the role of the school , depending on the 

specialist nature will depend how many inspectors we put 

in . And also if it was , for example , an unannounced or 

a short-notice inspection, it would be inspectors . 

7 Q . Then , at point 9 , there ' s a suggestion that the MP might 

8 

9 

10 

ask to see a copy of the report, and there ' s a concern 

that it might be confidential , but I think that all of 

your reports now are published; is that correct? 

11 A. Yes , all of our reports are published . 

12 MS INNES : My Lady , I ' m actually quite close to finishing , 

13 but I do have --

14 LADY SMITH : Shall we tave a short break? 

15 MS INNES : Yes . 

16 LADY SMITH : We usually have a short break in t he middle of 

17 

1 8 

the afternoon . If that would work for you, Janie , we ' ll 

just do that now . 

19 A . Yes . 

20 LADY SMITH : Very well . 

21 (2 . 59 pm) 

22 (A short break) 

23 (3 . 12 pm) 

24 LADY SMITH : Welcome back, Janie. Last stint , are you 

25 ready? 
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1 A . Yes . 

2 LADY SMITH : Thank you . 

3 Ms Innes . 

4 MS INNES : Thank you , my Lady . 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

I ' m going back to the main report SGV-001033534 and 

section 16 on page 38 . 

Now, you have referred to this during the course of 

your evidence , but I just want to be sure that we have 

covered all t he relevant points . 

You tell us there that a review of the approaches to 

school inspections is underway, and you have told us 

already t hat you ' re in the process of engaging with 

stakeholders . 

What ' s the timescale for this review? 

15 A . So we haven ' t set a specific timescale for it yet . We 

16 

17 

1 8 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

are in the process of gathering the views from the 

initial feedback t tat we gathered between January and 

March . Once we see the extent to t hat , we ' ll t hen set 

out a firmer timescale for when we ' ll take that - - take 

the review forward and when we will put different 

elements in place as well . 

We ' ll also need to take cognisance of the Education 

Scotland Bill as well , just in terms of timescales . 

24 Q. Now, obviously we know that UNCRC has been incorporated . 

25 To what extent has that impacted on the Inspectorate ' s 
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1 approach? 

2 A. So it will be front and centre of this review, looking 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

at the UNCRC articles , and particularly looking at what 

I would call the lived experience of children and young 

people in educatio~, and it ' s one of the reasons that 

I wanted to do the full scale of the school inspection 

review, from framework right the way through . 

8 Q . Is there a group leading on this work? 

9 A. Yes . 

10 Q. Overseen by yourself , I assume? 

11 A. Yes . I have a Strategic Director and a Head of 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

1 8 

Inspection leading on it, and we also have a stakeholder 

forum , who -- is part of a group of stakeholders who 

will help us with it , and the other area is that we ' ve 

been engaging with children and young people to -- and 

they have designed some activities that we can gather 

the views of children and young people as part of the 

reshaping of what we do . 

19 Q. Then in section 17 , you go on to refer to education 

20 

21 

22 

reform, which you ' ve already mentioned in your evidence , 

and I think the bill is currently at stage 3 in the 

Scottish Parliament; is that correct? 

23 A. That ' s correct . 

24 Q. When do you expect it to come into force? 

25 A. I think the anticipation at the moment is autumn this 
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1 year . 

2 Q. You say there , at paragraph 17 . 3 , that this makes 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

provision for the establishment of the office of 

His Majesty ' s Chief Inspector of Education in Scotland, 

and, as you have already told us , that would be leading 

the new i ndependent Education Inspectorate . 

Now, you mentioned in your evidence earlier, 

I think , that there would be an advisory council . Are 

you abl e to tell us a bit more about that and what ' s 

envisaged? 

11 A . So I can ' t , because i t ' s still part of the bill . What 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

I can say is that the intention behind it is to have 

those with an interest in education helping to shape the 

work of the Inspectorate , and that the Chief Inspector 

has to have due regard for that advisory council. But 

it hasn ' t been set up yet or the governance arrangements 

haven ' t been taken forward yet . 

18 Q. At paragraph 17 . 4 , on page 39 , you note that the Chief 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

Inspector will have a statutory duty to secure the 

inspection of relevant educational establishments at 

such intervals and to such an extent as the Chief 

Inspector considers appropriate , you say but that is 

subject to any requirements imposed by Scottish 

Ministers in regulations . 

Do you know what sort of requirements those might 
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1 be? 

2 A . No , I ' m not aware of that at the moment . 

3 Q . Okay . 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

You then say ttat Scottish Ministers would also be 

empowered to require the Chief Inspector to inspect 

a relevant educational establishment , a type of 

establishment or a sample of a type of establishment . 

So apart from the powers that we'll come on to in 

a moment, it looks like Scottish Ministers could direct 

you to carry out certain specified work? 

11 A . Yes . 

12 Q . But then it goes o~ to say, at paragraph 17 . 5 , that 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

notwithstanding these provisions , the bill makes 

specific provision to protect the Chief Inspector ' s 

independence and, as currently drafted , or as drafted at 

the time that you prepared this report , it said : 

' In performing the Chief Inspector ' s functions , the 

Chief I nspector is not subject to the direction or 

control of any member of the Scottish Government .' 

20 A . Yes , that ' s correct . 

21 Q. You have already told us in evidence previously that 

22 

23 

this bill is to align with the recommendations of 

Professor Muir . 

24 A . Yes . 

25 Q. Do you know if there have been any significant 
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1 

2 

amendments to the bi l l to date that impact on t h e work 

that you ' ll be doi~g? 

3 A. So there are some amendments around -- and discussions 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

around frequency of inspection and whether t hat shoul d 

be set in legislation . There have been some amendments 

around whether ministers have any powers related to 

inspection as well. So there are a number of amendments 

that will be taken through at stage 3 , and there were 

some amendments related to physical restraint, but 

that ' s going to be covered under another bill that ' s 

being taken forward as well . So there are a number o f 

whee l s in motion. 

13 LADY SMITH : I suppose , Janie , if you take frequency of 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

inspections , that might be something that regulations 

could cover , but o~ly to the extent of what woul d be the 

minimum frequency, still leaving the Chief I nspector 

with a discretion as to deciding exactly how often, so 

l ong as that minim~m is met . 

19 A . Yes . 

20 LADY SMITH : I perhaps have more difficulty in understanding 

21 

22 

23 

how ministers could have a power of inspection if 

they ' re handing the power of inspection over to the 

Inspectorate , but that no doubt ' s got to be ironed out . 

24 A . I thi nk it ' s intended as a safeguard . 

25 LADY SMITH : Ah, right . 
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1 MS INNES : I think there have been some amendments to the 

2 

3 

bill at stage 2 , specifically referring to BSL , the use 

of British Sign Lar.guage ; are you aware of those? 

4 A . Yes . 

5 Q . If they become law, ultimately, how would those impact 

6 on the work? 

7 A . So those will impact on our work , so , in terms of 

8 

9 

10 

11 

publication of reports , publication of inspection 

frameworks and guidance , and it will require us to 

it ' s making our work much more accessible to people who 

have different mear.s of communication . 

12 Q . As you have said, you anticipate , given where we now 

13 

14 

are , that it ' s likely , perhaps, to come into force or be 

passed , at least , by the autumn of this year? 

15 A . Sorry , no , the new -- the Inspectorate is due to stand 

16 

17 

18 

19 

up in autumn in terms of -- I don ' t have the precise -­

I think stage 3 is intended to -- stage 3 to go through 

before summer recess , as far as I ' m aware , but I can get 

back with the 

20 LADY SMITH : So you ' re anticipating commencement by the 

21 autumn? The law ir. place in the summer --

22 A . Yes , at this point in time . 

23 LADY SMITH : -- and then by the autumn , a go-live? 

24 A . Yeah . 

25 LADY SMITH : That ' s quite quick . 
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1 A . But I can get back with the latest detai ls on that to 

2 you . 

3 LADY SMITH : Thank you . If you can confirm. 

4 A . Yes, I can do that . 

5 LADY SMITH : I don ' t k~ow, you may get some information that 

6 

7 

we can ' t pick up j~st from the website and it would be 

helpful to know . 

8 A . Yes . 

9 LADY SMITH : Thank you . 

10 MS INNES : Then you co~clude your report by saying , as you 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

1 8 

19 

20 

21 

22 

said in your evidence this morning , that : 

' Education Scotland accept that it and its 

predecessors were aware of some abuse and harmful 

practices suffered by children in some of the relevant 

establishments [over t he period] .' 

You acknowledge that such treatment is unacceptable 

and should not have happened, and you obviously gave 

your apology on betalf of the Inspectorate earlier , and 

you say that Education Scotland is committed to learning 

lessons from the past and will continue to listen to and 

reflect carefully on t he evidence given to the Inquiry, 

and I think that remains your position, does it? 

23 A . Yes , it does . 

24 MS INNES : Thank you . 

25 I have got no more questions for you , Janie . Thank 
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1 you . 

2 LADY SMITH : Janie , nor do I . I just want to thank you 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

again for coming here again and being of such assistance 

to us . I do appreciate the work that ' s been put in by 

you and your colleagues to provide the detailed evidence 

we have now got and , indeed , the records that we were 

l ooking for at an earlier stage , and I do understand why 

some of the questions we ' ve asked can ' t be answered by 

reference to records , but thank you for looking anyway . 

So you ' re now free to go , and I hope you can relax 

for the rest of today . 

12 A . Thank you . 

13 (The witness withdrew) 

14 LADY SMITH : Just before we formally wrap up for today, 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

there is a name I want to mention . We named a teacher , 

Mr lilllll, t his morning . His identity is protected by my 

General Restriction Order and he's not to be mentioned 

as identified in our evidence outside t his room . 

Over to Ms Innes to confirm the p lan for tomorrow . 

20 MS INNES : So the plan for tomorrow, my Lady , is that we 

21 

22 

23 

24 

will have experts from Strathclyde providing evidence in 

relation to their report , looking at developments in 

education, policy and legislation, essentially over the 

relevant period that we ' re looking at . 

25 LADY SMITH : Yes . We ' re already familiar with one of them 
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1 at the very least . 

2 MS INNES : We are . Professor Kendrick will be back to give 

3 evidence . 

4 LADY SMITH : Than k you very much . 

5 Well, that ' s all for today . I ' ll sit again at 

6 10 o ' clock tomorrow morning . 

7 (3 . 26 pm) 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

(The Inquiry ad j ourned until 10 . 00 am on 

Wednesday , 28 May 2025) 
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